Bundaberg Region Heritage Study

Final Report Bundaberg Regional Council January 2015











Converge Heritage + Community

Contact details are:

Simon Gall

Converge Heritage + Community

ABN: 71 366 535 889

PO Box 1974

Tel: (07) 4124 1938

Email: sgall@convergehc.com.au

Copyright © 2015

| Document Verification | | |
|---|--|--|
| Project Bundaberg Region Heritage Study | | |
| Project Number | Project Number 15021C | |
| Document Title | Document Title Bundaberg Region Heritage Study_Final Report_27012015 | |
| File Location | cation SharePoint/15021C/Reporting/Final Report | |
| Client | Bundaberg Regional Council | |

| Version history | | | | |
|-----------------|----------|--------------------|-------------|---------------|
| Revision | Date | Nature of revision | Prepared by | Authorised by |
| 0 | 24/11/14 | Draft report | CB UO | SG |
| 1 | 27/01/15 | Final report | СВ | SG |
| 2 | | | | |



Contents

| List | of Tab | oles | 3 |
|------|--------|----------------------------|----|
| 1 | Intro | oduction | 4 |
| | 1.1 | Project Background | 4 |
| | 1.2 | Purpose of this Report | 4 |
| | 1.3 | Methodology | 4 |
| | 1.4 | Limitations | 5 |
| | 1.5 | Study Timing | 5 |
| | 1.6 | Personnel | 6 |
| 2 | Revie | ew | 7 |
| | 2.1 | Register Searches | 7 |
| | 2.2 | Previous Studies | 10 |
| | 2.3 | Consultation | 17 |
| | 2.4 | Conclusions and Gaps | 19 |
| | 2.5 | The Short List | 19 |
| 3 | Reco | ommended List of Places | 28 |
| | 3.1 | Field Survey | 28 |
| | 3.2 | Research and Analysis | 28 |
| | 3.3 | Assessment of Significance | 28 |
| | 3.4 | Recommended Places | 29 |
| | 3.5 | Further Stages of Work | 30 |
| 4 | Reco | ommendations | 34 |
| | 4.1 | Conclusion | 34 |
| | 4.2 | Recommendations | 35 |
| ۸n | nondiv | 1 – The Long List | 36 |



List of Tables

| Table 1: CHL Places in the Bundaberg Regional Council local government area | 7 |
|---|----|
| Table 2: QHR Places in the Bundaberg region. | 7 |
| Table 3: Places included on the draft planning scheme overlay | 8 |
| Table 4: Places listed on National Trust QLD only. | 9 |
| Table 5: Stakeholder Consultation | 17 |
| Table 6: The short list of places. | 20 |
| Table 7: Recommended list of places | |
| Table 8: 'Stage 2' list of places | |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | 36 |



1 Introduction

1.1 Project Background

The Bundaberg Regional Council (hereafter 'Council') is currently preparing a Queensland Planning Provisions compliant planning scheme for the Bundaberg local government area. The scheme includes a heritage and character overlay and associated code. Council recognised that the current overlay does not represent the diversity of places and historical themes in the Bundaberg local government area. Council therefore required the preparation of a local heritage study that identifies a 'representative range of heritage places throughout the region' and to ensure it meets its obligations under the State Planning Policy and the *Queensland Heritage Act 1992*.

The purpose of the study was 'to provide for the assessment and documentation of places of local cultural heritage significance in the Bundaberg Regional Council area and prioritise the preparation of 'place cards' and statements of significance for the recommended places.

1.2 Purpose of this Report

This is the final report for the project and it provides the final recommended list of places, the methodology adopted to determine the list and recommendations for the management of the places and further stages of work.

1.3 Methodology

The study brief required that the study be completed in a twelve week timeframe. In order to achieve a result in this period the methodology needed to be specific, focused and executed in an efficient manner. The following dot points outline the methodology, and the following chapters in this report provide the results of its implementation:

- The study began with a review of both existing information and consultation with the purpose of producing a 'long list' of potential places. The long list was intended to reflect a 'snapshot in time' of the potential local heritage places in the region identified in existing databases, non-statutory registers, previous studies and places identified during consultation. On the request of Council the long list does not include places already entered on the Queensland Heritage Register or the Commonwealth Heritage Register..
- Following the review, a 'short list' of places was prepared for field work. The selection of places
 was based on whether places reflected the key historical themes for the region (based on the
 Department of Environment and Heritage Protection assessment), if the place could be
 reasonably located and if it was reasonably expected that sufficient information could be
 obtained within the project timeframe to adequately assess the place's significance.
- The field work was then undertaken. The purpose of the field work was to physically examine each place, determine the integrity and condition of the place and to take photographs. An 'in the field' assessment of each place was made to determine if it demonstrated requisite characteristics that indicated it was likely to meet the threshold for local heritage significance. Places were also added to the 'long list' if identified during field work and not already included in the list.
- Following the field work, a shorter list of places was prioritised for further research and assessment. This assessment consisted of the preparation of histories, physical descriptions, and a statement of significance for each place. A place card was then prepared for each place using a purpose-built Microsoft Access database.



• A final report (this report) was prepared to outline the methodology and results for all stages of the study. The final 'long list' is provided as an appendix.

1.4 Limitations

The purpose of the study was to prepare a register of places of local heritage significance for the Bundaberg region. The study does not refer to:

- Aboriginal cultural heritage: this is managed under different legislation and in a different manner to local heritage places. Nonetheless, it is important to note that local heritage places identified in the study may also be significant to Aboriginal people.
- Neighbourhood character: although heritage can be a component 'character' is more about the
 overall aesthetic values or contribution of a particular streetscape or suburb, rather than
 'heritage', which is assessed according to heritage criteria. Character studies typically
 concentrate on aesthetic components of an area such as roof types, facades and general setting
 rather than particular places.
- Landscape heritage: specific heritage places may have a landscape component (for example, a
 pastoral station or a park), but landscape heritage is typically used to describe a broader
 landscape that represents historical or natural processes across time. Landscape heritage in this
 respect is similar to character in that it does not necessarily focus on a particular place and,
 consequently, it is outside of the scope of the local heritage study.

It is also impracticable to identify and assess every potential place of local heritage significance within a particular study because the timeframe and associated costs would be substantial. Likewise, the number of potential heritage places is generally large for any given region, particularly one that includes more than one former local government area. There are also other logistical issues that impact the number of places that can be assessed. For example, if a place was identified in an inventory or community consultation, but not supported by sufficient historical data, the place could not be properly assessed without further research and the time and effort required to complete this may take days or even weeks. Other places may have also been located in remote areas, not provided with addresses or been located on private property. Consequently, the recommended list of places presented in this report is not comprehensive; rather, it is a list of places that reflect important historical themes, were accessible and were supported by sufficient historical information to enable an assessment of significance within the project budget and timeframe.

Although this point must be stated as a limitation, heritage registers and overlays naturally evolve as more places are identified and assessed through community consultation and further stages of work. Indeed, establishing a register or overlay often raises community awareness of heritage in the region and in our experience results in heritage overlays developing and being added to over time.

Nonetheless, it is considered that the recommended list of places presented in this report reflects the history of the region and forms an excellent basis to acknowledge the places that contributed to that history.

1.5 Study Timing

The study was completed over a twelve week period, beginning in October 2014 and completed in December 2014.



1.6 Personnel

The study was prepared by Dr Craig Barrett and Ulrike Oppermann, with the assistance of Simon Gall, Director, Converge Heritage + Community.



2 Review

2.1 Register Searches

Heritage register searches were undertaken at the beginning of the study to identify places entered on statutory and non-statutory registers. Places entered on the Commonwealth and Queensland heritage registers are not included in the study. Although they are not assessed in the study a list of places on Commonwealth and Queensland heritage registers is provided in this report in order to enable a clearer understanding of existing heritage assets in conjunction with a deeper understanding of the history and heritage of the region.

The management of heritage in Australia is managed according to a number of levels: world, national, state and local. Heritage entered on statutory heritage registers is regulated by a range of Acts, Regulations and conventions. There are also a number of non-statutory registers that are important sources of information about heritage places, but in-themselves do not trigger any compliance. These are generally searched during a local heritage study along with statutory registers. Places entered on non-statutory registers and not already included in statutory registers were added to the long list for further assessment during the study.

The following sections provide the results of the register searches. All results are as of October, 2014.

2.1.1 Commonwealth Heritage List

One place is included on the Commonwealth Heritage List.

Table 1: CHL Places in the Bundaberg Regional Council local government area.

| Place ID# | Name | Address | Suburb |
|-----------|-----------------------|------------------|-----------|
| 106125 | Bundaberg Post Office | 155a Bourbong St | Bundaberg |

2.1.2 Queensland Heritage Register

Fifty two places are listed on the Queensland Heritage Register (QHR) for the Bundaberg region.

Table 2: QHR Places in the Bundaberg region.

| Place ID# | Name | Address | Suburb |
|-----------|---|------------------------|------------------|
| 601284 | 4BU Radio Station (former) | 55 Woongarra Street | Bundaberg |
| 600607 | Apple Tree Creek War Memorial | Bruce Highway | Apple Tree Creek |
| 600626 | Bakery | 82 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 601516 | Boolboonda Railway Tunnel | Tunnel Road | Gin Gin |
| 602172 | Boolboonda State Primary School (former) | Boolboonda Tunnel Road | Gin Gin |
| 602065 | Bourbong Street Weeping Figs | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 601762 | Bundaberg Police Station Complex | Quay Street | Bundaberg |
| 600362 | Bundaberg School of Arts | 184 Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 600364 | Bundaberg War Memorial | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 600365 | Bundaberg War Nurses Memorial and Park | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 600368 | Burnett Bridge | Quay Street | Bundaberg |
| 600615 | Chemist 60 Churchill St | 60 Churchill St | Childers |
| 600620 | Childers Court House | Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600628 | Childers Pharmaceutical Museum & Tourist Information Centre | 88-90 Churchill Street | Childers |



| Place ID# | Name | Address | Suburb |
|-----------|--|------------------------------|-----------------|
| 600619 | Childers Post Office (former) | Bruce Highway | Childers |
| 600621 | Childers QATB (former) | 69 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600613 | Childers RSLA Club | 55 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 601994 | Christ Church, Childers | Macrossan Street | Childers |
| 600618 | Clock - Pizzey Memorial | 63 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600363 | Commercial Bank of Sydney (former) | 191-193 Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 600630 | Dittmer's Store/Isis Town and Country | 92-94 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600369 | East Water Tower | 17 Sussex Street | Bundaberg |
| 600617 | Ellwood & Co Drapery (former) | 62 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 601009 | Fairymead House | Thornhill Street | Bundaberg |
| 602814 | Fallon House | 1 Maryborough Street | Bundaberg |
| 600622 | Federal Hotel | 71 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 601651 | Gin Gin Railway Station and Complex | Mulgrave Street | Gin Gin |
| 600608 | Grand Hotel | 106-110 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600624 | Hardware Store (former) | 74-78 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600614 | Hotel Childers | 59 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 601507 | Isis District War Memorial and Shire | 45 Churchill Street | Childers |
| | Council Chambers | | |
| 602123 | Isis Masonic Lodge | 18 Macrossan Street | Childers |
| 600609 | Jeffery's Building | 66-70 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600971 | Kalkie State School | | Bundaberg |
| 600367 | Kennedy Bridge | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 600627 | Kerr's Building | 84-86 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600625 | Lloyd's Barber Shop (former) | 80 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600616 | National Australia Bank | 61 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600623 | Palace Hotel | 72 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 601618 | Paragon Theatre | 75 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600610 | Queensland National Bank (former) | 50 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600370 | Saltwater Creek Railway Bridge | Quay Street | Bundaberg |
| 600612 | Shops and Cafe 54-58 Churchill Street | 54-58 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 600629 | Shops at 102-108 Churchill St | 102-108 Churchill Street | Childers |
| 602053 | Sir Anthony's Rest | Sir Anthony's Rest Street | Bundaberg |
| 602052 | South Sea Islander Church and Hall | 46 Johnston Street | Bundaberg |
| 602230 | South Sea Islander Wall | Grange Road | Bargara |
| 600529 | Splitters Creek Railway Bridge | Bundaberg - Mount Perry Line | Splitters Creek |
| 602489 | St Andrews Uniting Church | Cnr Maryborough Street | Bundaberg |
| 602815 | St John's Lutheran Church, Bundaberg | 30 George Street | Bundaberg |
| 601700 | Sunnyside Sugar Plantation (former) Remains | 94 Windermere Road | Windermere |
| 600631 | The Old Butcher's shop complex | 6 North Street | Childers |

2.1.3 Draft Bundaberg Planning Scheme

Seventeen places were proposed for entry to the Bundaberg region planning scheme overlay. The study brief required that these be assessed in the review phase. A preliminary review determined that the entire places threshold for local heritage significance and that the place cards contain sufficient data to enable their entry to the recommended list of places.

Table 3: Places included on the draft planning scheme overlay.

| Place ID# | Name | Address | Suburb |
|-----------|--------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| 1 | Alexandra Park Bandstand | 29 Quay Street | Bundaberg West |
| 2 | Hinkler House | 6 Mt Perry Road | Bundaberg North |



| Place ID# | Name | Address | Suburb |
|-----------|---|--|----------------|
| 3 | Zunker Family Memorial Pines | Esplanade Foreshore | Bargara |
| 4 | Old Burnett Heads Lighthouse | Zunker Street, (Lighthouse Park) | Burnett Heads |
| 5 | Gin Gin War Memorial | Mulgrave Street / Bruce Highway | Gin Gin |
| 6 | The Old Cran Home | 314 Bourbong Street | Bundaberg West |
| 7 | St John the Devine Anglican Church | 1 Paul Mittelheuser Street, | Burnett Heads |
| 8 | The Old Showgrounds Bailey Gate | 45 Burrum Street, (Old Showgrounds) | Bundaberg West |
| 9 | HM Customs House (former) | 1 Barolin Street | Bundaberg |
| 10 | Buss Park | 194 Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 11 | Mon Repos Cable Station Remains | 159 Mon Repos Road | Mon Repos |
| 12 | Bucca Hotel | 5 North Bucca Road | Bucca |
| 13 | Barolin State School and Shelter | Corner Elliott heads Road and 14 School Lane | Windermere |
| 14 | Barolin Homestead | 105 Barolin Esplanade | Coral Cove |
| 15 | The Bundaberg Service Flight Training School Air Gunnery and Bombing Range Shelter No.1 | Reserve for Drainage, Parklands Drive | Bundaberg |
| 16 | Pasturage Reserve | asturage Reserve 605 Bargara Road Mon F | |
| 17 | Woongarra Street Weeping Figs | Woongarra Street, Burrum Street, Branyan Street Road Reserve | Bundaberg |

2.1.4 Register of the National Estate (RNE)

All places of cultural heritage significance included on the RNE are currently included in either the CHL or the QHR.

2.1.5 National Trust Queensland

There are twenty two places entered on the Register of the National Trust of Queensland, twelve of which are entered on the QHR and one place is entered on the CHL. The remaining nine places are listed in Table 4.

Table 4: Places listed on National Trust QLD only.

| Place ID# | Name | Address | Suburb |
|-----------|----------------------------|------------------|------------|
| ISIS 2/14 | Avenue of Leopard Trees | Churchill Street | Childers |
| BRN 8/0 | Camphor Laurel trees | School Lane | Windermere |
| ISIS 2/7 | Childers Conservation Area | Elizabeth Street | Childers |
| BRN 6/0 | Melaleucas | Mon Repos Road | Mon Repos |
| BRN 5/0 | Pine trees | Schuhkraft Drive | Bargara |
| KOL 1/1 | Strangler Fig Tree | | Duingal |
| BRN 7/0 | Tree | The Esplanade | Bargara |
| BRN 4/0 | Tree | The Hummock | Bundaberg |
| ISIS1/1 | Woodgate National Park | NP 914 | Childers |



2.2 Previous Studies

There are a number of thematic histories, previous heritage studies, research material and general histories prepared for the Bundaberg region. This section briefly examines these in order to provide a context for the preparation of the long list and selection of places for the short list. The section setting out the results of consultation also contributes to this process.

2.2.1 Thematic Histories

The Department of Environment and Heritage Protection (EHP) has prepared a thematic history for the Wide Bay and Burnett region, as well as individual thematic histories for key industries. Therefore, a thematic history did not need to be prepared for the current study.

The key historic themes identified for the Wide Bay Burnett are:

- Exploring, surveying and mapping the land.
- Utilising and transforming the land.
- Working.
- Moving goods and people.
- Developing secondary and tertiary industries.

The thematic history is then broken up into former local government areas (LGAs) – the study was published in 2008 on the eve of Council amalgamations. The table on the following page summarises the key themes and subthemes for the former LGAs. It includes reference to key activities and places highlighted in the contextual histories.

The thematic histories for industries include the following:

- Agriculture.
- Pastoralism.
- Sugar.
- Timber.

These histories apply to the entire Wide Bay and Burnett region. However, the processes were broadly similar across the region and apply to specific places, including those in the Bundaberg region. Moreover, the histories include examples taken from key areas in the Bundaberg region. In general, the thematic histories of key industries provide finer detail for the assessment of significance of places in the short list.



| LGA | Theme | Subtheme (if used) | Key activities/places |
|-----------|---|---|--|
| Bundaberg | Exploiting, utilising and transforming the land | Exploring, surveying and mapping the land | • Exploration of district in 1866, including rough chart of Burnett River 1867. |
| | | [Exploiting natural resources] | Establishment of first sawmill in 1868. |
| | | | Timber industry remained important to Bundaberg's economy. |
| | Developing secondary and | | Establishment of sugar mills. |
| | tertiary industries | | First mills: Millaguin (1882) and Fairymead (1884). |
| | | | Prompted establishment of cane growing. |
| | | | Ironmongery became an important supporting industry to sugar, also |
| | | | building the Bundaberg-Mt Perry railway and local bridges. |
| | | | Bundaberg Rum Distillery established 1888. Also a distillery on Millaquin. |
| | | | Original buildings destroyed by fire. |
| | | | First breweries established in 1880s. |
| | Working | | South Sea Islander labour prominent in local sugar industry, from 1879. |
| | | | Ceylonese (Sri Lankan) workers arrived in 1882, led to 'Battle of the |
| | | | Burnett'. |
| | | | Bourbong Street between Toonburra and Tantitha Streets the city's |
| | | | Chinatown. |
| | | | • 1911 sugar workers strike – camp established at Franklin Estate. |
| | Moving goods, people and | | First roads and wharves established 1868. |
| | information | | Steamers active from 1873. |
| | | | Growth as port encouraged by Mt Perry copper mine. |
| | | | Bundaberg Harbour Board formed 1895. Retaining walls built. |
| | | | Port shifted to deep sea with construction of bulk sugar handling |
| | | | terminal, completed 1958. Oil terminal established 1962. |
| | | | • First bridge built in 1872, replaced by wooden Kennedy Bridge in 1878. |
| | | | Punt ferry across Burnett River until 1891, when Burnett River Rail Bridge |
| | | | opened. |
| | | | Bundaberg connected by rail to Gladstone and Brisbane (North Coast Railway) in 1897. |
| | Building settlements, towns, | | Settlement commenced 1867. |
| | cities and dwellings | | Town surveyed 1869. First land sale 1872. |
| | | | Commercial centre by 1875. |
| | Maintaining order | | A municipality in 1881. Declared a city 1913. |



| LGA | Theme | Subtheme (if used) | Key activities/places |
|-----------|---|---|--|
| Bundaberg | Creating social and cultural | | By 1876 a Roman Catholic Church and four Protestant churches. |
| (cont.) | institutions | | Public hospital opened 1881. |
| Burnett | Exploiting, utilising and transforming the land | Exploring, surveying and mapping the land | JC Burnett followed Burnett River to its mouth in 1846. |
| | | Timber [exploiting natural resources] | Main reason for exploration and early settlement in mid-late 1860s. |
| | | Agricultural activities | Former pastoral lands converted to agriculture, first selection 1869. |
| | | | Maize first crop. Dairying and pig farming prominent from 1890-1915. |
| | | | • Cane plantations prominent. <i>Millbank</i> sugar mill produced Bundaberg's first commercial sugar in 1872. |
| | | | Six sugar mills in Burnett by 1882. |
| | | | • Woongarra settled from 1870. Relied on maize, but also established juice mills. |
| | | | Fairymead plantation established c1880. |
| | | | Bingera sugar mill – private rail connection to Mt Perry/Bundaberg line. |
| | | | Remained a rural shire, with some grazing and State forest. |
| | Working | | South Sea Islander labour prominent in local sugar industry, from 1879. |
| | Moving goods, people and information | | Early bridges/roads connected Burnett (Woongarra scrub) with Bundaberg as per entry above. Bundaberg-Mt Perry line important, completed 1884. |
| | | | North and South Bundaberg linked by rail in 1891. |
| | | | Line to Millaguin branch line from North Coast railway opened 1891. |
| | | | Woongarra tramway constructed 1912, linking cane farms to <i>Qunaba</i> mill. Closed in 1959. |
| | Building settlements, towns, cities and dwellings | | • Primarily small coast towns: Bargara, Innes Park, Elliot Heads, Burnett Heads and Moore Park. |
| | Maintaining order | | • Burnett Shire formed from the amalgamation of Woongarra Shire and Gooburrum Shire in 1993. |
| | | | Burnett Shire office was located at Bargara. Shire offices for Woongarra and Gooburrum were located in Bundaberg. |
| Isis | Exploiting, utilising and transforming the land | Pastoral | • Pastoral stations from 1850s. Stations continued to operate into twentieth century. |
| | | Timber [exploiting natural resources] | Isis scrub discovered 1863. Timber became important industry, taken to rafting grounds on Isis River. Sawmills prominent until mid-1900s. |



| LGA | Theme | Subtheme (if used) | Key activities/places |
|--------------|---|---------------------------------------|---|
| Isis (cont.) | | Agricultural activities | Maize and sugar cane primary agricultural activities. |
| | Developing secondary and tertiary industries | | Doolbi Juice mill established 1890. Juice originally sent to Yengarie Sugar Mill. Knockroe mill established 1892. Dismantled 10 years later for use in the CSR mill at Huxley, near Childers. Isis Central Mill established 1896 (constructed by Walkers Maryborough) – one of the first co-operatively owned mills in Queensland. Other mills also opened, Isis now only one operating. |
| | Working | | 1911 sugar strike – Isis central to dispute because of proximity to North Coast rail. Big strike camp formed. |
| | Moving goods, people and information | | • First rail line (from Howard) operating in 1885. Line from Childers to Cordalba and through to Dallarnil opened in 1913. Railway to Childers closed 1964, but cane trams still used it. |
| | Building settlements, towns, cities and dwellings | | First settlement was Abingdon in 1880. Other settlements included Bootharh, Doolbi, Apple Tree Creek, Cordalba and Goodwood. Childers established as a town by a private investment company in 1886. Cordalba main QLD Railways depot & interchange station; Buxton an early river port at intersection of Isis River and Bruce highway; Woodgate surf lifesaving club established 1939. |
| Kolan | Exploiting, utilising and transforming the land | Pastoral | Pastoral stations established from 1847. Early stations were <i>Gin Gin</i> (originally <i>Tirroan</i>), <i>Walla</i> and <i>Monduran</i>. Approximately seven runs took in all of the Kolan Shire area by 1870. Changed from sheep to cattle by 1872. Supplied sheep for boiling down works at Maryborough & Baffle Creek in 1860s and cattle markets in Brisbane, Ipswich and Maryborough. Gympie goldfield and Mt Perry copper mine increased demand for meat. |
| | | Mining [exploiting natural resources] | Some copper mines located in Kolan, supplying the Mt Perry copper smelter. The Bundaberg-Mt Perry railway line stimulated growth in the area. |
| | | Agricultural activities | Some early agriculture, but cattle stations predominated. Cane farms and juice mills were established around Bingera from c1875. Gin Gin Central Mill established c1895 and a tramway built to connect farms to the mill. Closed 1975. |



| LGA | Theme | Subtheme (if used) | Key activities/places |
|------------------|---|---------------------------------------|---|
| Kolan (cont.) | | Managing water | Monduran Dam constructed 1971. Known as Fred Haigh Dam. Ponded area referred to as Lake Monduran. Constructed to raise the efficiency and security for sugar industry. |
| | | Timber [exploiting natural resources] | Timber and sawmilling important for a period of time, 1906-1970s. |
| | Building settlements, towns, cities and dwellings | | Gin Gin primary settlement – at crossroads of Maryborough-Gladstone and Bundaberg-Mt Perry roads. Telegraph lines between Gladstone and Bundaberg in 1874. Gin Gin included a repeating station. Other settlements included Wallaville & Tirroan. |
| | Maintaining order | | Native Police operating in district from 1851. Find a line total or built of Circles in 1885. |
| | manitaning order | | First police station built at Gin Gin in 1885. |



2.2.2 Previous Heritage Studies

The following heritage studies were prepared for former local government areas now incorporated in the Bundaberg region:

- Woods Bagot, 1995, Burnett Shire Heritage Study.
- University of Queensland Department of Architecture, 1998, Childers Character Study.
- Meredith Walker, 1995, Isis Shire, Queensland: Inventory of places of heritage and character significance and considerations for management.

Other relevant sources examined in this report are:

- EHP reported places.
- A list of places for investigation prepared by Council and provided to Converge at the beginning of the study.
- Research material provided by EHP.

2.2.3 Burnett Shire Heritage Study

This study was undertaken by Woods Bagot and was completed in 1995. It consists of four volumes:

- Volume 1: Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Stage 1: Historical Overview.
- Volume 2: Historical Overview.
- Volume 3: Schedule of Places.
- Volume 4: Conservation Planning and Tourism Recommendations.

Aboriginal cultural heritage is not specifically examined in this study. However, the authors of the volume on Aboriginal cultural heritage provide some detail on the contact history with Aboriginal people in the Wide Bay and Burnett region. This aspect is relevant to the study, particularly the establishment of pastoral stations in the region and the conflict this engendered with local Aboriginal people. The frontier was particularly violent in the late 1840s and early 1850s and a Native Police camp was established at Walla to quell Aboriginal resistance in the 1850s.

The historical overview provides a chronological history of the Burnett Shire and Bundaberg City, as well as a thematic history of the Burnett Shire. This is a substantial and well-written history that helpfully combines documentary sources with photographs and survey plans and is based on a detailed reference list that heavily utilised local historical sources. This history clearly establishes the context for non-Indigenous settlement of the Burnett and Bundaberg districts and will be beneficial when preparing histories for place cards and assessing significance.

The schedule of places is substantial, although a large number of places are residences with little or no histories. Place cards were prepared for each place and generally these include a description, history (in some cases), photographs and maps. The significance of each place is rated as local, regional, state or national, not against criteria. Overall it provides a good cross-section of places, although the study is now quite dated and some of the places may no longer be extant.

The volume examining conservation planning and tourism recommendations is not directly relevant to the current study.



2.2.4 Childers Character Study

The Childers Character Study was prepared by architecture students from the University of Queensland. The focus on the study is 'character' within the town of Childers, and not heritage specifically; therefore, the analysis leans towards streetscapes and setting rather than specific places and their individual significance. Nonetheless, some historical information is presented in the report and it may also be helpful when assessing the aesthetic significance of places in Childers if these are selected for further assessment.

2.2.5 Isis Shire Heritage Study

The Isis Shire heritage study was prepared for the Queensland National Trust. Places were identified from a variety of sources, primarily community workshops, local histories and field work. Similarly to the Burnett study, the Isis study includes a substantial number of places. The significance of places was assessed according to criteria (although not a-h as in the *Queensland Heritage Act 1992*). It includes a good cross-section of places, although historical information is often limited or not provided. A history was not prepared for the study, but key historical themes were noted.

The study is also dated, like the Burnett study, and the same caveats apply.

2.2.6 EHP Reported places

The EHP keeps a list of places that have been 'reported' in the past, often through community consultation or via previous heritage studies. The majority of the reported places list for the Bundaberg region consists of places taken from the Isis heritage study. However, it does include a number of places that were not found in any of the previous studies or the list of sites for investigation provided by Council. Some of the places include a brief history (although the source of the history is not referenced).

2.2.7 List of sites for investigation

This is a carefully prepared list and almost every place is worth further investigation. The places also cover a good cross-section of potential local heritage places, particularly for the city of Bundaberg.

2.2.8 EHP research material

The EHP has compiled a substantial research folder including primary historical documents and historical photographs, primarily of places in the city of Bundaberg. This will be particularly helpful when assessing specific places selected for further investigation.

2.2.9 Other resources

There is a range of other useful resources identified during catalogue searches and consultation, primarily secondary sources (works of history for settlements and former shires) and historic photographs, particularly the collection available on the Bundaberg library website. These, in conjunction with the previous heritage studies and other resources described above, ensure that there is a wealth of historical information for the region and this should assist with the assessment of short-listed places.



2.3 Consultation

Brief stakeholder consultation was undertaken from the 7th - 9th of October 2014 and also during field work.

All participants were provided with an overview of the study, including the methodology, timeframe and the purpose. All participants understood that the study was being prepared for the planning scheme and what this entails.

Particular results of the consultation are noted in the table below. In summary, the consultation was overwhelmingly positive with every participant interested and enthusiastic about the study and willing to assist as required.

Table 5: Stakeholder Consultation

| Date | Stakeholder | Topics |
|---------|---|---|
| 7/10/14 | Gin Gin Historical Museum Participants: Phil Obst. Wendy. | Confirmed several key places for further assessment. Offered research services to assist preparing histories for places in the Gin Gin area noted on the short list. Provided a tour of the museum. Requested information about how the museum might benefit from the study – as the place is already on the QHR, suggested grant applications for further work including preparation of a conservation management plan would be most effective. Schedule for further cooperation. Overall a positive meeting. |
| 7/10/14 | BRC Tourism Development Department Participants: Liz McNeil, Tourism Development Coordinator. | General discussion about the value of the study, particularly for tourism in the region. Discussion about Fairymead House and strategic approach to maintenance and new work as it is entered on the QHR. Provided key contacts for further consultation should the project require it, primarily relating to Hinkler House. Offered to assist further should the opportunity arise. |
| 7/10/14 | Bundaberg and District Historical Museum Participants: Chris Spence. Estelle Hanson. | Offered to assist with information about short list places and research. Discussed availability of resources. Schedule for further cooperation. |
| 7/10/14 | Bundaberg Library Participants: Sue Gammon, Local Studies Librarian. | Discussion about available resources at the library. Sue contributed a number of places for further investigation. Schedule for further cooperation. |



| Date | Stakeholder | Topics |
|--------------------|---|---|
| 7/10/14 8/10/14 | Participants: Cr Alan Bush. Cr Wayne Honor. Cr Ross Sommerfeld. Cr David Batt. Cr Judy Peters. Michael Ellery. Lee-Anne Manski. Aaron Kelly. Isis District Historical Society Participants: Bev Santacaterina. | Briefing about the study strategy, including the assessment process. Discussion about the benefits of identifying local heritage places. A number of councillors contributed places for further investigation – these are to be packaged up in emails and sent to the Converge team via Aaron Kelly. Offered to assist with information about short list places and research. Discussed availability of resources. Schedule for further cooperation. |
| 9/10/14 | Heather Perry. Bundaberg Railway Historical Museum Participants: Graham Hibberd. | Discussion about Bundaberg region's rail history. Particular focus on Nielson Park and rail picnics. Offered to assist with information about short list places and research. Schedule for further cooperation. |
| 9/10/14 | Bundaberg Genealogical Society Participants: Rhonda Harris. Bundaberg Regional Council Participants: Carl Moller, Natural Areas Officer. Carla Colasimone, Parks Planning and Design Technical Officer. | Discussion focused on early pastoral history and potential problems with historical sources, cemeteries and Booyal (as this is where Rhonda grew up). Particular discussion about Gin Gin Station and the site of the reprisal attack – made the point that there is some dispute about the location of the reprisal attack. Confirmed several key places for further assessment. Offered to assist with information about short list places and research. Schedule for further cooperation. Discussion with Carl focused on a number of key natural areas with local heritage potential. Carl also scanned the long list and provided further information about key places. Offered to assist with information about short list places. Discussion with Carla focused primarily on heritage assets in parks e.g. the naval guns and Gin Gin war memorial, particularly a strategic approach to |
| 13/10/14 | Gayle Read, Regional Supervisor Cemeteries Operation Geoffrey Smith, South Sea Islander community | conserving heritage places. Phone consultation with Gayle focussed mainly on establishing the location and accessibility of cemeteries listed on the BRC website. Gayle also contributed historic context for some places. Meeting with Geoffrey at South Sea Islander Community Hall. Geoffrey voiced concern about SSI heritage disappearing fast due to farming, mining and development. Discussed the places on the long and short list and Geoffrey contributed his knowledge. Geoffrey also provided names and phone numbers of contacts within and outside of the SSI community. |



| Date | Stakeholder | | Topics | | | | | | |
|----------|---|------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 21/10/14 | Rick Matkowski, Manager Bundaberg Burnett Tourism | General North | Discussed the opportunities the local heritage study will provide to the tourism industry. | | | | | | |

2.4 Conclusions and Gaps

At this point in the study, the following observations were made:

- The histories contained in previous studies and the EHP thematic histories provide a solid historical overview for Bundaberg region and associated key industries. This is helpful when establishing the context for places recommended for entry to the overlay. The history included in the Burnett study is also very helpful. The other secondary sources available for former shires generally means that there is no particular need for further thematic research at this stage.
- The previous studies, EHP reported places and the list of sites for investigation provided by Council at the beginning of the project provide a robust long list of places (over 400).
- The places cover a good cross section of historical themes and place types and are also scattered throughout the local government area, ensuring a good regional spread. This provides a solid basis for the study. There does not appear to be any problem identifying places that reflect key historical themes for the region.
- There also appears to be some historical information for many of the places, which at this stage
 is positive although the veracity and value of the available information will be tested during
 assessment later in the study.
- Various stakeholders consulted for the study are willing to assist in further research and identifying relevant sources. This should make the process of finalising place cards more efficient, particularly if there are concerns about existing information or information is required for places.
- Consultation was overwhelmingly positive all the participants were enthusiastic and keen to help.

Following from these observations, the following gaps were identified:

- Historical information for some places, including those on the short list below, is limited and this
 may affect the number of places recommended for entry to the overlay. This is despite the
 overall availability of historical information noted in the conclusions above.
- The veracity of some sources of historical information was contested. This is not unusual, but may affect the assessment of places on the short list.
- The age of some of the studies means a large number of places may no longer be extant or modified. The impact on the current study will be minimised through consultation with key stakeholders regarding the short list of places.

2.5 The Short List

The following short list of places was prepared prior to field work. It consists of over 100 places. Places were generally selected if they appear to represent key historic themes, a good regional spread and include historical information. The relatively large number of places will provide a good representation to choose from for further assessment in the later stages of the study.



Table 6: The short list of places.

| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Lot/Plan | History | References |
|----------|--|---|--|------------------------|---------|--|
| 1 | Ball's Cutting | Abington Road | Abington | Road | Υ | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#ABN 01 |
| | | | | reserve | | EHP Reported Places ID#2746 |
| 2 | Former villages of Horton and Abington | Coach Road and Abington Road | Abington/ Horton | | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 3 | Apple Tree Creek Memorial Hall | Bruce Highway | Apple Tree Creek | | N | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#ATC 01 |
| 4 | Cemetery | Drummond Street | Apple Tree Creek | | Y | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#ATC 09 |
| <u> </u> | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2760 |
| 5 | Various Community Halls | | Apple Tree Creek, Sharon, Delan etc. | Various RP's | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 6 | Smith's Crossing | Faulkner Park / Smith Crossing Road / Kolan River | Avondale | | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR23 EHP Reported Places ID#2604 |
| 7 | Bert Hinkler Tree | Cnr Bargara and Seaview Roads | Bargara | | Υ | Carl Moller |
| 8 | Residence | Cnr Miller and Everdell Streets | Bargara | | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR101 |
| 9 | Residence | 29 Esplanade | Bargara | Lot 2 on RP121726 | Y | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR163 |
| 10 | Roller Skating Rink | Nielsen Park | Bargara | Lot 220 on SP154063 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 11 | The Basin and Shelter Sheds | Kelly's Beach Esplanade | Bargara | no RP | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 12 | Trees (Pandanus) in Nielson Park | Esplanade | Bargara | | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR162 |
| 13 | Bingera Mill Administration Building and Redundant Mill Infrastructure | 2097 Gin Gin Road | Bingera, Sharon | Lot 7 on SP187569 | Y | List of sites for investigationWoods Bagot Study ID#BUR34-39 |
| 14 | Booyal Cemetery | Berthelsens Road | Booyal | | N | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#BOY 08 EHP Reported Places ID#2772 |
| 15 | Booyal Hall | Causeway Road | Booyal | | Y | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#BOY 01 EHP Reported Places ID#2765 |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Lot/Plan | History | References |
|----|---|--|-----------|--|---------|---|
| 16 | Causeway | Causeway Road | Booyal | | Υ | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#BOY02 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2766 |
| 17 | Slab shed and yards | Bruce Highway | Booyal | | N | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#BOY 05 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2769 |
| 18 | Bucca Crossing | Bucca Road | Bucca | | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR26 |
| 19 | Bucca Public Hall | Cnr Bucca Crossing & Longs Road | Bucca | Lot 78 on CK2204 Reserve R437 | Y | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR25 |
| 20 | Bullyard Hall | Bucca Road | Bullyard | Lot 226 on CK386 Reserve R33 | Y | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR27 |
| 21 | Blacks Building | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 22 | Bundaberg Fire Station | 19 Woongarra Street | Bundaberg | Lot 81 on B1583 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 23 | Bundaberg Hospital Complex | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Lot 80 on B158103 | Υ | • EHP Reported Places ID#5293-94, 5287-90, 5295-7, 5299 |
| 24 | Burnett River Ferry cutting and remains | northern termination of Maryborough Street | Bundaberg | Lot 11 on SP143086 | N | List of sites for investigationEHP Reported Places ID#3530 |
| 25 | Buss & Turner Building | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 26 | Christ Church | Cnr Woogarra & Maryborough Streets | Bundaberg | | Р | EHP Reported Places ID#35438 |
| 27 | Former National Bank (now Payne Butler Lang Offices/ Qunaba | Corner 2 Targo Street and Quay Street | Bundaberg | Lot 108 on B1582 | Υ | List of sites for investigationEHP Reported Places ID#31910 |
| 28 | Former School of Nursing – Bundaberg Base Hospital | | Bundaberg | Lot 80 on B158103 | N | List of sites for investigationEHP Reported Places ID#5292 |
| 29 | Former Union Bank (now Spices Plus Restaurant) | Former Union Bank (now Spices Plus Restaurant) | Bundaberg | Lot 1 on RP220 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 30 | Holy Rosary Catholic Church | Corner 22 Barolin and Woongarra Street | Bundaberg | Lots 1, 2 and 3 on B1586 | N | List of sites for investigation EHP Reported Places ID#35440 |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Lot/Plan | History | References |
|----|--|--|----------------------|----------------------------------|---------|--|
| 31 | Melbourne Hotel | Cnr George Street and Targo Street | Bundaberg | Lot 7 on SP190164 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 32 | Navel Guns | | Bundaberg | | Υ | BRC Consultation |
| 33 | North Bundaberg Railway Station | 9 Hanbury Street | Bundaberg | Lot 55 on SP140147 | N | List of sites for investigationEHP Reported Places ID#2602 |
| 34 | Parkvue (Art-Deco building) | Cnr Maryborough Street and Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 35 | Queens Park | | Bundaberg | | Υ | Carl Moller |
| 36 | Queens Theatre | 29 Woongarra Street | Bundaberg | Lot 73 on | Υ | List of sites for investigation |
| | | | | B1582 | | EHP Reported Places ID#22311 |
| 37 | Special Flying Training School Observation Shelter No. 2 | Parklands Drive | Bundaberg | | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 38 | The Hummock | | Bundaberg | | Υ | Carl Moller |
| 39 | The Linden Family Medical Clinic | Corner 11A Barolin Street and Woongarra Street | Bundaberg | Lot 38 on B1582 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 40 | The Terrace Place | Cnr Woondooma Street and 56 Targo Street | Bundaberg | Lot 1 on RP81584 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 41 | Toilet Block | 3 Barolin Street (in between Post Office and former customs House) | Bundaberg | Lot 10 on B15863 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 42 | Victoria Hall/ QLD Bottle Shop | Targo Street | Bundaberg | | Υ | EHP Reported Places ID#22312 |
| 43 | Waterview Sawmill | | Bundaberg | | Υ | EHP Reported Places ID#25954 |
| 44 | Whaling Wall | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | | | Sue Gammon |
| 45 | Dental Clinic | 11 Barolin Street | Bundaberg Central | Lot 2 on RP253 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 46 | Federal Hotel | 217 Bourbong Street | Bundaberg Central | Lot 35 on B15819 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 47 | Immigration Barracks / Army Drill Hall | 50 Quay Street | Bundaberg Central | Lots 403 and 404 on B15819 | Y | List of sites for investigationEHP Reported Places ID#33960 |
| 48 | National Bank Building | Cnr 1 Targo Street and Quay Street | Bundaberg Central | | N | List of sites for investigation |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Lot/Plan | History | References |
|------|--|------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|---------|-----------------------------------|
| 49 | Public Works Office – | 23A Quay Street | Bundaberg | Lot 11 on | Y | List of sites for investigation |
| | Department of Transport and | , | Central | SP143086 | | EHP Reported Places ID#24610 |
| | Main Roads | | | | | · |
| 50 | Salters Cordial Works | 21 Walla Street | Bundaberg | Lot 2 on | Υ | List of sites for investigation |
| | | | Central | RP41469 | | EHP Reported Places ID#22307 |
| 51 | Wishing Well | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Road | N | List of sites for investigation |
| | | | Central | Reserve | | |
| 52 | Bundaberg Gasworks Site and | 2E Bourbong Street | Bundaberg East | Lot 2 on | N | List of sites for investigation |
| | Historic Flood Marker | | | RP24767 | | |
| | | | | | | |
| 53 | Springhill House – Bundaberg | 37 Avenue Street | Bundaberg East | Lot 100 on | N | List of sites for investigation |
| | Distillery | | | SP217951 | | |
| | | | | | | |
| 54 | Bundaberg Airport Building and | 2 Childers Road | Bundaberg | Lot 35 on | N | List of sites for investigation |
| | Hangars – Bundaberg Airport | | Kensington | SP254546 | | |
| 55 | Kirby's Wall | Burnett River | Bundaberg North | adjacent | N | List of sites for investigation |
| | | | | to Lot 1 on | | |
| F.C. | Daille accion Daill Common Manufactura | 24. 22. W/Listure of Charles | Door de le com Nicoth | RP899236 | N. | |
| 56 | Millaquin Mill Sugar Workers | 21-23 Whittred Street | Bundaberg North | Lots 33 and 34 on | N | List of sites for investigation |
| | Cottages | | | RP24779 | | |
| 57 | North Bundaberg Perry Street | | Bundaberg North | NF24779 | Υ | EHP Reported Places ID#2601 |
| 37 | Section of North Coast Railway | | Bulluaberg North | | ī | Enr Reported Places ID#2001 |
| | and Waterview Branch | | | | | |
| 58 | Gorman Park | | Burnett Heads | | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR54 |
| 59 | Brand Residence | North Street | Childers | | Y | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#CHI 64 |
| - | - | | | | • | EHP Reported Places ID#2800 |
| 60 | Doolbi Sugar Mill Remains and | 155 Doolbi Dam Road | Childers | Lot 2 on | N | List of sites for investigation |
| | Mill Residence, Mill Chimney, | (West Street, Doolbi – NTQ) | | RP108959 | | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#DOO |
| | Tank, Trees, Cooling Pond, | , | | | | 07-13, 18 |
| | Doolbi Mill Precinct, Doolbi Mill | | | | | • EHP Reported Places ID#2848, |
| | Houses, Mill Dam | | | | | 2849, 2850, 2851, 2852, 2853, |
| | | | | | | 2890, 2891 |
| 61 | Helms Scrub | Isis Highway | Childers | | Υ | Carl Moller |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Lot/Plan | History | References |
|----|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------|--------------------|---------|-----------------------------------|
| 62 | Isis Scrub Hoop Pines | | Childers | | Υ | Carl Moller |
| 63 | Isis War Memorial Pool | Churchill Street | Childers | | Υ | Childers Character Study |
| | | | | | | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#CHI 15 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2782 |
| 64 | Missionary John Thompson memorial | | Childers | | N | EHP Reported Places ID#16359 |
| 65 | Missionary Thompson's Hill | Bruce Highway | Childers | | Υ | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#CHI 76 |
| 66 | Pizzey Residence | North Street | Childers | Lot and RP unknown | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 67 | Police Station & lock-up | | Childers | | N | Childers Character Study |
| | | | | | | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#CHI 72 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2818 |
| 68 | The Sacred Heart Catholic | Churchill Street | Childers | | N | Childers Character Study |
| | Church | | | | | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#CHI 23 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2781 |
| 69 | Trees | Churchill Street | Childers | | Υ | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#CHI21 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2788 |
| 70 | Uniting Church/ | Macrossan Street | Childers | | Υ | Childers Character Study |
| | Methodist Church | | | | | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#CHI 55 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2794 |
| 71 | AWA Strike Camp Site | Hodges Road south of rail track | Cordalba | | Υ | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#COR 20 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2892 |
| 72 | Cordalba Cemetery | Irwins Road | Cordalba | | У | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#COR 04 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2864 |
| 73 | Cordalba Hotel | 1 Queen Street | Cordalba | Lot 1 on | N | List of sites for investigation |
| | | | | RP1891 | | EHP Reported Places ID#29372 |
| 74 | Cordalba War Memorial | Queen Street | Cordalba | Lot 2 | Y | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#COR 07 |
| | | | | Section 7 | | EHP Reported Places ID#2859 |
| 75 | Sports Reserve/ Cricket Reserve | Irwins Road | Cordalba | | Y | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#COR 05 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2861 |
| 76 | Well | Claytons and Hodges Road | Cordalba | | Y | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#COR 02 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2867 |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Lot/Plan | History | References |
|----|--|--|----------------------------------|---|---------|--|
| 77 | War Memorial | Goodwood Road | Doolbi | , | N | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#DOO 05 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2855 |
| 78 | Submarine Look out remains | Esplanade | Elliott Heads | | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 79 | Fairymead Mill building | Fairymead Mill | Fairymead | | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR127 |
| 80 | Fairymead Mill workers' accommodation | Fairymead Mill | Fairymead | | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR128 |
| 81 | Fairymead School | Fairymead Mill | Fairymead | | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR126 |
| 82 | Kanaka grave | Fairymead Mill | Fairymead | | N | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR125 |
| 83 | Sugar Mill | | Fairymead | | N | EHP Reported Places ID#15786 |
| 84 | Allen Brothers Slab Hut | Kookaburra Park Eco-Village | Gin Gin | Lot 0 [Common | N | List of sites for investigationEHP Reported Places ID#29382 (?) |
| | | | | Property] on GTP3530 | | |
| 85 | Auburn School | | Gin Gin | | N | Cr Wayne Honor |
| 86 | Gin Gin Courthouse and Art Gallery | | Gin Gin | Lot and RP unknown | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 87 | Gin Gin Homestead Station | 34593 Bruce Highway | Gin Gin | Lot 1 on BON1460 | Y | List of sites for investigation |
| 88 | Gin Gin Post Office | 82 Mulgrave Street | Gin Gin | Lot 72 on G2319 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 89 | Gin Gin Telegraph Station | Philippa Street | Gin Gin | | N | Cr Wayne Honor |
| 90 | Matthew Flinders Way Pine Roadside Tree Plantings | entrance to Gin Gin from Bundaberg at Maroondan | Gin Gin | adjacent to Lot 11 on SP205444 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 91 | Carlton House and Moreton Bay Fig Avenue | 1533 Moore Park Road | Gooburrum | Lot 6 on RP836887 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 92 | Tantitha House Residence & grave | 293A Fairymead Road | Gooburrum | Lot 101 on SP261884 | Y | List of sites for investigationWoods Bagot Study |
| 93 | Forestry Workers Hut Remains | | Goodnight Scrub National Park | Lot and RP unknown | N | List of sites for investigation EHP Reported Places ID#24996, 25374, 25935, 25938, 25939, |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Lot/Plan | History | References |
|-----|--|-----------------------------|-------------------|--|---------|---|
| 94 | Pemberton Sugar Mill Remains | Elliott Heads Road | Innes Park | Lot 12 on SP228739 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 95 | Cemetery | Boughtons Road | Invicta | Lot2 on RP204891 / Road Reserve | Y | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR24 |
| 96 | Invicta Mill site & Mill Manager's Residence | Mill Road | Invicta | (Lot and RP unknown) | Y | List of sites for investigation Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR147 & BUR148 |
| 97 | Invicta Mill site and nearby bridge | | Invicta | | N | BRC Consultation |
| 98 | Isis Central Mill Administration Building, School Residence, Mill Houses, Managers House | Kevin Livingstone Drive | Isis Central | Lot 7 on SP173087 | N | List of sites for investigation Walker Isis Shire Study ID#ICM 01- 05, 07 EHP Reported Places ID#2862, 2865, 2868, 2870, 2873, 2877 |
| 99 | One Tree Hill | Hapsburg Road, Isis Highway | Isis Central | (Lot and RP unknown) | N | List of sites for investigationEHP Reported Places ID#30723 |
| 100 | Adie's House | Adies Road | Isis Central Mill | | Y | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#ICM 10EHP Reported Places ID#2829 |
| 101 | Adie's Site | Adies Road | Isis Central Mill | | Y | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#ICM 11EHP Reported Places ID#2828 |
| 102 | Well | | Kepnock | | N | BRC Consultation |
| 103 | Qunaba Sugar Mill | 167 Grange Road | Mon Repos | Lot 6 on RP7303 | Y | List of sites for investigation Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR124 and 129 |
| 104 | Flood marker at Monduran near the Kolan Rover Bridge marking the 1890 flood height | | Monduran | | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 105 | Buss Residence | 6 Peace Street | Norville | Lot 2 on RP204883 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 106 | Henker Family Graves | Henkers Road | Oakwood | Lot 4 on RP221364 | Y | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR17 |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Lot/Plan | History | References |
|-----|--------------------------------------|--|--------------|--|---------|---|
| 107 | Pine Creek Hall (incl Honour Boards) | Pine Creek Road | Pine Creek | Lot 3 on RP40898 | Y | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR41 |
| 108 | Forest Fire Watchtower | Phillips Road | Promisedland | Lot 840 on FTY1633 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 109 | South Sea Islander Cottage | Northern side of 189 Windermere Road between Hummock Road and Cattemull Avenue | Qunaba | Lot 1 on RP79424 | N | List of sites for investigation |
| 110 | AWA Strike Camp Site, Lily | Isis Highway, Apple Tree Creek | South Isis | | Υ | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#SOI 12 |
| | Lagoons | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2811 |
| 111 | Derrick | Rainbows Road | South Isis | | Υ | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#SOI 01 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2835 |
| 112 | South Isis Cemetery | Aerodrome Road | South Isis | | Υ | Walker Isis Shire Study ID#SOI 11 |
| | | | | | | EHP Reported Places ID#2815 |
| 113 | South Kolan General Cemetery | Bundaberg Gin Gin Road | South Kolan | | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR32 |
| 114 | Railway Bridge | | Wallaville | Lot 4 on RP21929 and Lot 2 on | N | List of sites for investigation |
| | | | | BON634 | | |
| 115 | Waterloo Hall | Waterloo Hall Road | Waterloo | Lot 3 on | Υ | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR156 |
| | | | | RP602539 | | EHP Reported Places ID#29375 |
| 116 | Winfield School and trees | Winfield Road | Winfield | Lot117 on FD564 | Y | Woods Bagot Study ID#BUR21/22 |
| 117 | Original Woodgate Beach Houses | Esplanade | Woodgate | various RP's along Esplanade | N | List of sites for investigation |



3 Recommended List of Places

3.1 Field Survey

Field work was undertaken over a five day period. In general, the short list of places — and subsequent field work — enabled the study team to cover approximately 50% of the Bundaberg local government area. The location of all places in the short list was accessed, but in some cases the actual sites could not be identified or were located on private property and access (not achievable in the study timeframe) was required. A small number of places were identified that were not included in the long/short list prepared in the review phase.

3.2 Research and Analysis

A shorter 'short list' consisting of 58 places was then prepared following the completion of field work. Historical research was then undertaken to prepare a history for each place. The historical research relied primarily on key local history sources, each of which are identified in the individual place cards for places on the recommended list of places. Website searches, including the National Library of Australia's Trove (in particular the digitised newspapers) expanded the scope of research and yielded important information for some places. Further consultation with key stakeholders was also undertaken where gaps were evident for places that otherwise met the threshold for local heritage significance and remained on the preferred list of recommended places. In some cases, historical information could not be located in sufficient detail within the available timeframe to enable an assessment of every place. This outcome is noted against the relevant places in the long list provided as an appendix, where applicable.

3.3 Assessment of Significance

The significance of each place was determined through the application of heritage criteria. The best-practice framework for the conservation of tangible cultural heritage in Australia is the *Burra Charter* (2013). According to the *Burra Charter*, a place is considered significant if it possesses aesthetic, historic, scientific or social value for past, present or future generations (Article 1.2). These values are reflected in established heritage criteria that are used by all heritage agencies and statutory heritage Acts in Australia. The criteria used to assess the significance of places in the local heritage overlay are drawn from the *Queensland Heritage Act 1992*:

- A The place is important in demonstrating the evolution or pattern of the region's history.
- B The place demonstrates rare, uncommon or endangered aspects of the region's cultural heritage.
- C The place has potential to yield information that will contribute to an understanding of the region's history.
- D The place is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a particular class of cultural places important to the region.
- E The place is important to the region because of its aesthetic significance.
- F The place is important in demonstrating a high degree of creative or technical achievement at a particular period for the region.
- G The place has a strong or special association with a particular community or cultural group for social, cultural or spiritual reasons important to the region.
- H The place has a special association with the life or work of a particular person, group or organisation of importance in the region's history.



Each place is unique and only the relevant criteria are used to generate a statement of significance for a place.

3.4 Recommended Places

The following table presents the recommended list of places to be included in the planning scheme overlay. The list includes the draft places already prepared by Council (with some modifications).

Table 7: Recommended list of places

| # | Name | Address | Suburb |
|----|---|---|-------------------|
| 1 | Adie's House and site | Adies Road | Isis Central Mill |
| 2 | Alexandra Park | Quay Street | Bundaberg |
| 3 | Apple Tree Creek Cemetery | Drummond Street | Apple Tree Creek |
| 4 | Avondale Cemetery | Cnr Avondale and Mullers Roads | Avondale |
| 5 | Barolin Homestead | 305 Barolin Esplanade | Barolin |
| 6 | Barolin State School and Shelter | Corner Elliott Heads Road and 14 School Lane | Windermere |
| 7 | Blaxland and Pegg Brothers Memorial and Rest Area | Bruce Highway | Gin Gin |
| 8 | Boolboonda Cemetery | Off Mine Road | Boolboonda |
| 9 | Booyal Causeway | Causeway Road | Booyal |
| 10 | Booyal Cemetery | German Charlies Road | Booyal |
| 11 | Booyal Hall | Causeway Road | Booyal |
| 12 | Bucca Crossing | Bucca Crossing Road | Bucca |
| 13 | Bucca Hall | Longs Road | Bucca |
| 14 | Bucca Hotel | 5 North Bucca Road | Bucca |
| 15 | Bullyard Hall | Bucca Road | Bullyard |
| 16 | Bundaberg Airport WWII Features | 2 Childers Road | Bundaberg |
| 17 | Bundaberg Catholic Cemetery | Fitzgerald Street | Bundaberg |
| 18 | Bundaberg Ferry Cutting | Maryborough Street | Bundaberg |
| 19 | Bundaberg General and Lawn Cemetery | Takalvan Street | Bundaberg |
| 20 | Bundaberg Railway Station | Mc Lean Street | Bundaberg |
| 21 | Buss Park | 194 Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 22 | Christ Church | Cnr Woogarra & Maryborough Streets | Bundaberg |
| 23 | Cordalba Cemetery | Irwins Road | Cordalba |
| 24 | Commercial Hotel | 1 Queen Street | Cordalba |
| 25 | Cordalba War Memorial | Queen Street | Cordalba |
| 26 | Cordalba Water Reserve | Cnr Clayton and Hodges Road | Cordalba |
| 27 | Currajong Cemetery | Currajong Farms Road | Currajong |
| 28 | Doolbi Horton War Memorial | Goodwood Road | Doolbi |
| 29 | Doolbi Sugar Mill Remains | 155 Doolbi Dam Road | Doolbi |
| 30 | Drill Hall | 50 Quay Street | Bundaberg |
| 31 | Elliott River Fire Tower | Isis Highway | Elliott |
| 32 | Gin Gin Courthouse (former) | Cnr Mulgrave and Walker Streets | Gin Gin |
| 33 | Gin Gin General Cemetery | Cemetery Road | Gin Gin |
| 34 | Gin Gin Post Office | Mulgrave Street | Gin Gin |
| 35 | Gin Gin War Memorial | Mulgrave Street | Gin Gin |
| 36 | Helms Scrub | Isis Highway | Childers |
| 37 | Henker Family Graves | Henkers Road | Oakwood |
| 38 | Hinkler House | 6 Mt Perry Road | Bundaberg |
| 39 | HM Customs House (former) | 1 Barolin Street | Bundaberg |
| 40 | Holy Rosary Catholic Church | Corner Woongarra and Barolin Streets | Bundaberg |
| 41 | Invicta Cemetery | Boughtons Road | Invicta |
| 42 | Invicta Mill Site & Tram Tracks | Mill Road | Invicta |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb |
|----|---|----------------------------------|---------------|
| 43 | Kirby's Wall | Burnett River | Kalkie |
| 44 | Methodist Church (former) | Macrossan Street | Childers |
| 45 | Missionary John Thompson Memorial | | Childers |
| 46 | Mon Repos Cable Station Remains | 159 Mon Repos Road | Mon Repos |
| 47 | Nielson Park | Fred Courtice Avenue | Bargara |
| 48 | North Bundaberg Railway Station | 28 Station Street | Bundaberg |
| 49 | Old Burnett Heads Lighthouse | Zunker Street | Burnett Heads |
| 50 | Pasturage Reserve | 605 Bargara Road | Mon Repos |
| 51 | Pine Creek Hall | Pine Creek Road | Pine Creek |
| 52 | Queens Park | Off Hope Street | Bundaberg |
| 53 | Queensland National Bank (former) | Quay Street | Bundaberg |
| 54 | South Head Lighthouse and Pilot Reserve | Off Lighthouse Street | Burnett heads |
| 55 | South Isis Cemetery | Aerodrome Road | South Isis |
| 56 | South Kolan General Cemetery | Bundaberg Gin Gin Road | South Kolan |
| 57 | St John the Divine Anglican Church | Paul Mittelheuser Street | Burnett Heads |
| 58 | Submarine Lookout Remains and ANZAC Day Memorial | Esplanade | Elliott Heads |
| 59 | The Bundaberg Service Flight Training School (SFTS) Air Gunnery and Bombing Range Shelter No. 1 | Parklands Drive | Bundaberg |
| 60 | The Hummock | Off Bowden Street | Bundaberg |
| 61 | The Hummock Lookout | Turners Way | Bundaberg |
| 62 | The Linden Clinic (former) | Cnr Woongarra and Barolin Street | Bundaberg |
| 63 | The Old Cran Home | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 64 | The Old Showgrounds Bailey Gate | Burrum Street | Bundaberg |
| 65 | Waterloo Hall | Waterloo Hall Road | Waterloo |
| 66 | Waterview Railway Branch | Perry Street | Bundaberg |
| 67 | Waterview Sawmill Site | Mc Rae Street | Bundaberg |
| 68 | Whaling Wall | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg |
| 69 | Winfield School | Winfield Road | Winfield |
| 70 | Woongarra Street Weeping Figs | Woongarra Street Road Reserve | Bundaberg |
| 71 | Zunker Family Memorial Pines | Esplanade Foreshore | Bargara |

3.5 Further Stages of Work

Given the limits of the study, there is an opportunity to undertake further stages of work to strengthen the overlay and the extent to which it represents the history of the Bundaberg region. These places are referred to as 'Stage 2' in the long list in the appendix. The following table lists the Stage 2 places:

Table 8: 'Stage 2' list of places.

| # | Name | Address | | | Suburb | Comments |
|---|-------------------------|-----------------------|------|------|---------|--|
| 1 | Allen Brothers Slab Hut | Kookaburra Village | Park | Eco- | Gin Gin | Representative of early closer settlement in the Gin Gin district. More research required. |



| ш | Namo | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|----|--------------------------------|-----------------------------------|------------------|---|
| 2 | Name Bingera Mill | Gin Gin Road | | Comments Currently operating. |
| | | | Bingera | Significant sugar mill to the history of the region. Requires access and consultation with owners. |
| 3 | Brand Residence | North Street | Childers | Associated with a significant figure in Childers' and Queensland's history. Architecturally significant house. Requires access and consultation with owners. |
| 4 | Branyan Road State School | Branyan Drive | Branyan | Identified in Queensland school study as significant. Requires access and consultation with school. |
| 5 | Bundaberg Central State School | 13 Crofton Street | Bundaberg | Identified in Queensland school study as significant. Requires access and consultation with school. |
| 6 | Bundaberg Hospital Complex | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Relatively complex site with various phases of development. Some of original 1880s section intact. Further assessment and research required to confirm phases and significance. |
| 7 | Bundaberg Port Sugar Shed | Buss Street | Burnett Heads | Constructed in the 1950s, substantial change in sugar port operations in Bundaberg (reflecting broader change in Queensland). Requires access and consultation with owners. |
| 8 | Bundaberg State High School | Maryborough Street | Bundaberg | Identified in Queensland school study as significant. Requires access and consultation with school. |
| 9 | Bundaberg Walkers Foundry | Cnr Gavin and Gladwell Streets | Bundaberg | Operating from 1880s. Significant contribution to local industry, in particular sugar mills. Requires access and consultation with owners. |
| 10 | Cedar Grove Massacre Site | | | Alleged site of massacre of local Aboriginal people following killing of Pegg Brothers in 1849. Requires further research, access and consultation with local Aboriginal people and owners of property. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|----|-------------------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------|--|
| 11 | CSR Sugar Mill Site | Hapsburg-Knockroe Road | Apple Tree Creek | Archaeological site. Requires further field assessment and potential access and consultation with property owners. |
| 12 | Fairymead Sugar Mill | | Fairymead | Currently operating (although not as sugar mill). Significant sugar mill to the history of the region. Requires access and consultation with owners. |
| 13 | Gin Gin Homestead Station | 34593 Bruce Highway | Gin Gin | Consultation undertaken in Stage 1. Permission required to take photographs and complete assessment. Owners suggested making contact again during stage 2. |
| 14 | Isis Central Mill | Kevin Livingstone Drive | Isis Central | Currently operating. Significant sugar mill to the history of the region. Requires access and consultation with owners. |
| 15 | Knockroe Sugar Mill Remains | Knockroe Road | North Isis | Archaeological site. Requires further field assessment and potential access and consultation with property owners. |
| 16 | Millaquin Sugar Mill / Bundy Rum | | Bundaberg | Currently operating. Significant sugar mill to the history of the region. Requires access and consultation with owners. |
| 17 | Paddys Island Massacre Site | Burnett River | Bundaberg | Alleged site of massacre of local Aboriginal people following killing of Blaxland in 1850. Requires further research, access and consultation with local Aboriginal people and owners of property. |
| 18 | Pemberton Sugar Mill Remains | Elliott Heads Road | Innes Park | Archaeological site. Requires further field assessment and potential access and consultation with property owners. |
| 19 | Qunaba Sugar Mill | 167 Grange Road | Mon Repos | Currently operating (although not as sugar mill). Significant sugar mill to the history of the region. Requires access and consultation with owners. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|----|--|-----------------|------------------|--|
| 20 | South Sea Islander Cottage and associated infrastructure | Windermere Road | Qunaba | Consultation in Stage 1 seemed to confirm site, but could not be identified during field work. Further field assessment and potential access and consultation with property owners and South Sea Islander community required. |
| 21 | Spring Hill Sugar Plantation | Springhill Road | Burnett Heads | Significant plantation with homestead still extant. Requires access and consultation with owners. |
| 22 | Toilet Block | Barolin Street | Bundaberg | No historical information identified in Stage 1. Fabric clearly thresholds for local heritage significance – history needed. |
| 23 | Walla Station | 315 Walla Road | Gin Gin | Along with Gin Gin, one of the major stations in the Kolan district from the late 1840s and early 1850s. Native Police detachment based here in the 1850s. Homestead still extant. Requires access and consultation with owners. |



4 Recommendations

4.1 Conclusion

The 71 places in the recommended list presented in Chapter 3 comprises a representative selection of places that span the geographic area of the Bundaberg region and reflect its key historic themes.

The importance of sugar to the region's history and economy is very clear, as are the earliest industries: pastoralism and timber getting. The places tell the story of the early pastoral settlement in the Kolan district and how timber getting and sawmilling were fundamental to the establishment of Bundaberg. Pastoralism is particularly important. In a small way – and this aspect needs to be properly developed in a second stage of work – the contact between the new arrivals and local Aboriginal people is also explored. The pastoral frontier was unprecedented in the lives of the Aboriginal people living in the region and its impact was immediate and violent. The significance of this period in the region's history, like the rest of the country, is still felt today. While the stories told in the heritage study, even in its first stage, cannot ignore this history it is clear that more work is required.

The prominence of sugar becomes very clear from the earliest history of the region. Although there are important places that have not been included in this study due to a lack of access and time – the operating sugar mills for example – the study demonstrates that the Bundaberg region is without doubt the preeminent sugar producing region in Australia, and that this was the case from the 1880s onward. The sugar story also reveals the significance of the South Sea Islander and Sinhalese presence in the region and its industry, as well as the early labour movement and the debates that raged in Queensland and the colonies in the late nineteenth century about these issues and the federal legislation passed by the new Commonwealth parliament in 1901, part of the 'White Australia Policy', that sought to solve them. The Bundaberg region was (and remains) a prominent sugar growing region and its role in wider colonial and national politics was also important.

Many of the places reflect the pride local communities developed, and continue to express, in their own distinctive history and identity. The cemeteries are exceptional records of the early settlers and their diverse origins: for example, Britain, Germany, Denmark, Russia and Italy, along with Pacific islands, Sri Lanka and even China. The public halls, war memorials, even causeways, provide a window into the interconnectedness of local communities in the past, and also the importance of places that served peoples' social and cultural needs. Indeed, examples of transport and communication infrastructure demonstrate how places within the region – and outside of it – were connected, and how these connections helped foster the economy and development of the region. These places also help tell the story of the prominence of small agricultural communities and their early pioneers that are dotted throughout the region and continue to thrive today. The recommended list of places can be read alongside a map and the scale and scope of settlement in the past can be properly understood.

The time span encompassed by the study is also demonstrative of the scale of European influence and settlement in the region. From Matthew Flinders' naming of the Sloping Hummock in 1799 through to the painting of the 'Whaling Wall' by the prominent international artist, Wyland, in 1990, nearly two hundred years of exploration, settlement, industrial development and cultural engagement can be told. As noted above, however, there is more work that can be done and a 'stage 2' list of places has been provided in this study as a starting point for this work. A small investment will enable the list to grow and ensure the story of the region can be told more comprehensively through its rich stock of local heritage places.



Nonetheless, the places in this study – 'stage 1' – enable the story of the wider district to be told. The study results, when viewed in conjunction with the places in the region entered on the Queensland Heritage Register, mean there are over 120 heritage places identified in the Bundaberg region. Taken together, these places enable the presentation of an important and immensely satisfying narrative. The places of local heritage significance (and these include those on the Queensland Heritage Register) ultimately contribute to the continued economic and cultural development of the region through tourism and local government initiative.

4.2 Recommendations

The following recommendations are offered to assist with the development and management of the local heritage overlay.

Converge recommends that Bundaberg Regional Council:

- Accepts the recommended list of places presented in this study.
- Proceeds with the notification of the recommended list of places as part of the new planning scheme to enable consultation with the owners of places identified in the study.
- Enters the places following consultation (and subject to consideration of submissions) into the local heritage overlay in the new planning scheme.
- Undertakes 'stage 2' of the study recommended in this report, allowing sufficient time and resources to enable adequate research and consultation with owners of places as required.
- Appoints a local heritage officer, preferably within the planning department, that can manage
 the overlay and any enquiries related to it. As the list is relatively compact, it would be
 envisioned that this role is part of the officer's wider duties.
- Maintains a webpage on Council's website where all of the place cards are available for viewing by the public.
- Undertake heritage awareness training for staff that examines the local heritage places, how they are managed in the planning scheme and how to seek further assistance where required (i.e. speak with the heritage officer).
- Develops a local heritage strategy that seeks to utilise the overlay and places entered on the Queensland Heritage Register to further develop economic and tourism outcomes for the region including, but not limited to, interpretation opportunities and local events (using historic halls, for example). The strategy should also establish a timetable for periodic updates and further stages of work, as well as examine in detail incentives applied by other local governments in Queensland and around Australia.
- Implements incentives for owners of local heritage places as identified in the strategy, including, but not limited to, rate discounts, dollar for dollar funding up to a set amount for conservation works and free advice from Council when work is contemplated that requires Council approval.
- Prepare conservation management plans for places recommended for entry to the overlay and entered on the Queensland Heritage Register, and owned and/or managed by Council.



Appendix 1 – The Long List

Table 9: Long list of places.

| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|----|------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------|---|
| 1 | Abington township allotments | Abington Road | Abington | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 2 | Adie's House and site | Adies Road | Isis Central Mill | Stage 1. |
| 3 | Alexandra Park | Quay Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 4 | Allen Brothers Slab Hut | Kookaburra Park Eco-Village | Gin Gin | Stage 2. |
| 5 | AMP Building | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 6 | Anglican Church (former) | | Cordalba | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 7 | ANZ Bank | 52 Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 8 | Apple Tree Creek Cemetery | Drummond Street | Apple Tree Creek | Stage 1. |
| 9 | Apple Tree Creek Hotel | Bruce Highway | Apple Tree Creek | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 10 | Apple Tree Creek Memorial Hall | Bruce Highway | Apple Tree Creek | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 11 | Auburn School | | Gin Gin | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 12 | Avenue of Leopard trees | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 13 | Avondale Cemetery | Cnr Avondale and Mullers Roads | Avondale | Stage 1. |
| 14 | Avro Anson Planecrash | | Coral Sea | No location details. |
| 15 | AWA Strike Camp Site | Hodges Road south of rail track | Cordalba | Stage 1, included in Cordalba Water Reserve listing. |
| 16 | AWA Strike Camp Site, Lily Lagoons | Isis Highway, Apple Tree Creek | South Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 17 | Ball's Cutting | Abington Road | Abington | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance; not located during fieldwork. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|----|--|--|-------------------|---|
| 18 | Barolin Homestead | 305 Barolin Esplanade | Barolin | Stage 1. |
| 19 | Barolin State School and Shelter | Corner Elliott Heads Road and 14 School Lane | Windermere | Stage 1. |
| 20 | Basketball Courts/ Association Tennis Courts | Pizzey Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 21 | Blaxland and Pegg Brothers Memorial and Rest Area | Bruce Highway | Gin Gin | Stage 1. |
| 22 | Beaufort - Plane Crash/Wreck | | Unknown | No location details. |
| 23 | Bellevue | Churchill Street | Childers | No location details. |
| 24 | Bert Hinkler Tree | Cnr Bargara and Seaview Roads | Bargara | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 25 | Bingera Mill Administration Building and Redundant Mill Infrastructure | 2097 Gin Gin Road | Bingera, Sharon | Stage 2. |
| 26 | Bingera Mill industrial building | Bingera Mill | Bingera | Stage 2. |
| 27 | Bingera Mill Pump House and Shute | Bingera Mill | Bingera | Stage 2. |
| 28 | Bingera Weir | Bingera Mill | Bingera | Stage 2. |
| 29 | Blacks Building | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 30 | Boolboonda Memorial Hall | Cnr Mine Road and Gin Gin – Mount Perry Rd | Boolboonda | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 31 | Boolboonda Cemetery | Off Mine Road | Boolboonda | Stage 1. |
| 32 | Booyal Causeway | Causeway Road | Booyal | Stage 1. |
| 33 | Booyal Cemetery | German Charlies Road | Booyal | Stage 1. |
| 34 | Booyal Central State School and Residence | Bruce Highway | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 35 | Booyal Hall | Causeway Road | Booyal | Stage 1. |
| 36 | Bourbong Street facades | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Character rather than heritage. |
| 37 | Bowling Green and Pavilion | North-South Road | Isis Central Mill | Stage 2. |
| 38 | Bowling Greens | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 39 | Brand Residence | North Street | Childers | Stage 2. |
| 40 | Branyan Road State School | Branyan Drive | Branyan | Stage 2. |
| 41 | Bridge near Invicta Mill site | | Invicta | No access. |
| 42 | Bucca Crossing | Bucca Crossing Road | Bucca | Stage 1. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|----|---|---------------------------------------|----------------|---|
| 43 | Bucca Hall | Longs Road | Bucca | Stage 1. |
| 44 | Bucca Hotel | 5 North Bucca Road | Bucca | Stage 1. |
| 45 | Bullyard Hall | Bucca Road | Bullyard | Stage 1. |
| 46 | Bullyard State School | Bucca Road | Bucca | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| 47 | Bundaberg Airport WWII Features | 2 Childers Road | Bundaberg | heritage significance. Stage 1. |
| 48 | Bundaberg Catholic Cemetery | Fitzgerald Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 49 | Bundaberg Central State School | 13 Crofton Street | Bundaberg | Stage 2. |
| 50 | Bundaberg Child Care Centre | 5 Maryborough Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| 30 | bulldaberg Cillid Care Centre | 3 Maryborough Street | Bulluaberg | heritage significance. |
| 51 | Bundaberg Ferry Cutting | Maryborough Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 52 | Bundaberg Fire Station | 19 Woongarra Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 53 | Bundaberg Gasworks Site and Historic Flood Marker | 2E Bourbong Street | Bundaberg East | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 54 | Bundaberg General and Lawn Cemetery | Takalvan Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 55 | Bundaberg Hospital Complex | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Stage 2. |
| 56 | Bundaberg Morgue | Scenic Drive | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 57 | Bundaberg Port Sugar Shed | Buss Street | Burnett Heads | Stage 2. |
| 58 | Bundaberg Railway Station | Mc Lean Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 59 | Bundaberg State High School | Maryborough Street | Bundaberg | Stage 2. |
| 60 | Bundaberg Walkers Foundry | Cnr Gavin and Gladwell Streets | Bundaberg | Stage 2 |
| 61 | Burnett Heads Hair Design/Videos | Cnr Somerville Street & Zunker Street | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 62 | Burnett Heads State Primary School | 52 Burnett Heads Road | Burnett Heads | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 63 | Burnett Heads Uniting Church | Zunker Street | Burnett Heads | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 64 | Buss & Turner Building | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 65 | Buss Park | 194 Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1 |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|----|---|---|------------------|---|
| 66 | Buss Residence | 6 Peace Street | Norville | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 67 | Cane Cutters Barracks (former) | Doolbi Dam Road | Doolbi | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 68 | Cane cutters cottage/quarters | Cnr Bundaberg Port Road and Ashfield Road | Windermere | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 69 | Cane rail | | Childers | No longer extant. |
| 70 | Cane Storage Area | Walters Road | Booyal | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 71 | Canegrowers Association Building | Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 72 | Carlton House and Moreton Bay Fig Avenue | 1533 Moore Park Road | Gooburrum | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 73 | Catarinas' House | Broadhurst Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 74 | Cattle Dip Shed | North South Road, near Griggs Road | Apple Tree Creek | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 75 | Cedar Grove Massacre Site | | | Stage 2. |
| 76 | Chappell's Farm | Butchers Road | South Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 77 | Childers Butchery | Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 78 | Childers Craft Supplies + Robinsons | 126-8 Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 79 | Childers Fire Station – now used as hall | | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 80 | Childers Veterinary Surgery | North Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 81 | Christ Church | Cnr Woogarra & Maryborough Streets | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 82 | Church converted to house | | Cordalba | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 83 | Commercial Hotel | Queen Street | Cordalba | Stage 1, same as Cordalba Hotel. |
| 84 | Commonwealth Bank | 96-99 Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|---|--------------------------------|----------------------|---|
| 85 | Cordalba Cemetery | Irwins Road | Cordalba | Stage 1. |
| 86 | Cordalba Forest Station | | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 87 | Cordalba General Store | Queen Street | Cordalba | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 88 | Cordalba Hotel | 1 Queen Street | Cordalba | Stage 1. |
| 89 | Cordalba Post Office and residence (former) | Queen Street | Cordalba | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 90 | Cordalba State School | Irwins Road | Cordalba | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 91 | Cordalba Trigonometric Station | | Isis Central | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 92 | Cordalba War Memorial | Queen Street | Cordalba | Stage 1. |
| 93 | Cordalba Water Reserve | Cnr Clayton and Hodges Road | Cordalba | Stage 1. |
| 94 | Cottage | Bruce Highway | Apple Tree Creek | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 95 | Cottage (group of four) | Queen Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 96 | Crossing/ Langur's Crossing | Cooks Road | South Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 97 | CSR Dam | Hapsburg-Knockroe Road | Apple Tree Creek | Stage 2. |
| 98 | CSR Sugar Mill Site | Hapsburg-Knockroe Road | Apple Tree Creek | Stage 2. |
| 99 | Currajong Cemetery | Currajong Farms Road | Currajong | Stage 1. |
| 100 | CWA Cottage | Crescent Street | Childers | Not located during fieldwork. |
| 101 | Dairy Shed | Cooks Road | South Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 102 | Dental Clinic | 11 Barolin Street | Bundaberg Central | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 103 | Derrick | Rainbows Road | South Isis | Relocated to Isis District Historical Village. |
| 104 | Derrick and railway track | Off Walters Road | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|---|---------------------|----------------------|---|
| 105 | Dip and Bails/ South Isis Dip Company | Cooks Road | South Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 106 | Dittmanns Hut | Moore Park Road | | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 107 | Doolbi Horton War Memorial | Goodwood Road | Doolbi | Stage 1. |
| 108 | Doolbi Sugar Mill Remains | 155 Doolbi Dam Road | Doolbi | Stage 1. |
| 109 | Drill Hall | 50 Quay Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 110 | Dry Stone Wall | | Moolboolaman | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 111 | Dwelling (former barracks)/ Cane Cutters' Barracks | Bruce Highway | South Isis | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 112 | Dwelling/former church | Old Creek Road | Apple Tree Creek | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 113 | Elliott River Fire Tower | Isis Highway | Elliott | Stage 1. |
| 114 | Fairymead Managers Residence | Rosedale Road | Avondale | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 115 | Fairymead Mill building | Fairymead Mill | Fairymead | Stage2. |
| 116 | Fairymead Mill workers' accommodation | Fairymead Mill | Fairymead | Stage 2. |
| 117 | Fairymead School | Fairymead Mill | Fairymead | Stage 2. |
| 118 | Farm building/Silo | Cnr Stengord's Road | Bucca | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 119 | Farm shed | Plantation Road | Avondale | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 120 | Farm structure/shed | Hoffmans Road | Burnett Heads | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 121 | FC Brown & Co | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 122 | Federal Hotel | 217 Bourbong Street | Bundaberg Central | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 123 | Fig Tree in road reserve | Goodwood Road | Doolbi | Stage 1, included in Doolbi Sugar Mill entry. |
| 124 | Flats/holiday letting 'Whispering Pines' | 101 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|--|---|----------------------------------|---|
| 125 | Flood marker at Monduran near the Kolan Rover Bridge marking the 1890 flood height | | Monduran | Not located during fieldwork. |
| 126 | Ford | Isis River | Isis Junction | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 127 | Forestry Workers Hut Remains | | Goodnight Scrub National Park | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 128 | Former barracks / Rodeo shed | Current location unknown – previously alongside the oval in ATC | Apple Tree Creek | Current location unknown. |
| 129 | Former Bingera Mill Residence | Cedars Road | Bingera South | Stage 2. |
| 130 | Former Dahl residence | | Invicta | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 131 | Former Millhouses | | Bundaberg East | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 132 | Former School of Nursing – Bundaberg Base Hospital | | Bundaberg | Stage 2, included in Hospital Complex entry. |
| 133 | Former Union Bank (now Spices Plus Restaurant) | Former Union Bank (now Spices Plus Restaurant) | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 134 | Former villages of Horton and Abington | Coach Road and Abington Road | Abington/ Horton | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 135 | Friendly Society Building | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 136 | Gaeta School | Gaeta Road | Gaeta | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 137 | Gin Gin Courthouse (former) | Cnr Mulgrave and Walker Streets | Gin Gin | Stage 1. |
| 138 | Gin Gin General Cemetery | Cemetery Road | Gin Gin | Stage 1. |
| 139 | Gin Gin Homestead Station | 34593 Bruce Highway | Gin Gin | Stage 2. |
| 140 | Gin Gin Hospital | Elliott Street | Gin Gin, Kolan | No longer extant. |
| 141 | Gin Gin Post Office | 82 Mulgrave Street | Gin Gin | Stage 1. |
| 142 | Gin Gin State School | 13 May Street | Gin Gin | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|--------------------------------------|---|----------------|---|
| 143 | Gin Gin Telegraph Station | | Gin Gin | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 144 | Gin Gin War Memorial | Mulgrave Street | Gin Gin | Stage 1. |
| 145 | Golf Course / Old Doolbi School Site | Lucketts Road | Doolbi | Stage 1, included in Doolbi Sugar Mill entry. |
| 146 | Goods Shed | Old Railway Station Yard | Cordalba | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 147 | Gordons Store (former) | Queen Street | Cordalba | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 148 | Gorman Park | | Burnett Heads | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 149 | Gospel Chapel | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 150 | Grace Lutheran Church | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 151 | Grave | Starkey Street | Invicta | Not located during fieldwork. |
| 152 | Guide Hut | Lord Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 153 | Helms Scrub | Isis Highway | Childers | Stage 1. |
| 154 | Henker Family Graves | Henkers Road | Oakwood | Stage 1. |
| 155 | Hinkler House | 6 Mt Perry Road | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 156 | Historical Village | Taylor street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 157 | HM Customs House (former) | 1 Barolin Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 158 | Holy Rosary Catholic Church | Corner Woongarra and Barolin Streets | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 159 | Homestead near South Kolan Cemetery | Gin Gin Road | South Kolan | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 160 | Hospital Red Cross Rooms | Elliott Street | Gin Gin, Kolan | No longer extant. |
| 161 | House | Norman Street | Cordalba | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 162 | House | Goodwood Road | Doolbi | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 163 | House | Goodwood Road | Doolbi | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|--|----------------------------------|------------------|---|
| 164 | House | Goodwood | Doolbi | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 165 | House | Doolbi Dam Road | Doolbi | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 166 | House and Garden | Knockroe Road | North Isis | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 167 | llett's House | Lynwood Apple Tree Creek Road | Apple Tree Creek | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 168 | Invicta Cemetery | Boughtons Road | Invicta | Stage 1. |
| 169 | Invicta Mill Site & Tram Tracks | Mill Road | Invicta | Stage 1. |
| 170 | Isis Body Works | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 171 | Isis Central Mill Administration Building, School Residence, Mill Houses, Managers House | Kevin Livingstone Drive | Isis Central | Stage 2. |
| 172 | Isis Club | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 173 | Isis Croquet Club | Pizzey Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 174 | Isis Discount Timbers/ Ampol Service Station | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 175 | ISIS Petroleum | | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 176 | Isis Railway Station | Isis Junction Road | Isis Junction | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 177 | Isis River Bridge | | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 178 | Isis Scrub Hoop Pines | | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 179 | Isis War Memorial Pool | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 180 | J+B Otter Supermarket | Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 181 | JE Tree Crossing | Rainbows Road | South Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |



| ш | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|---|---------------------------------------|------------|---|
| 182 | Jensen Cottage, Halbak, Easthorpe | Goodwins Road | Horton | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| 102 | (1920s) | Goodwins Road | Horton | heritage significance. |
| 183 | Kanaka grave | Fairymead Mill | Fairymead | Stage 2. |
| 184 | Karly's + Childers Realty | Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 185 | Kinkuna Plane Crash Site | | Woodgate | No location details. |
| 186 | Kirbys Wall | Burnett River | Kalkie | Stage 1. |
| 187 | Knockroe Sugar Mill Dam | Knockroe Road | North Isis | Stage 2. |
| 188 | Knockroe Sugar Mill Remains/ North Isis Mill | Knockroe Road | North Isis | Stage 2. |
| 189 | Kullogum Forest Station Site | Kullogum | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 190 | Kullogum Grazing Hut | Kullogum | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 191 | Kullogum Tower No. 1 Site | Kullogum | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 192 | Laneway | Cran Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 193 | Large mature fig trees | Gibsons Road | The Oaks | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 194 | Larson's Road Railway Overbridge | | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 195 | Laurel Tree Cottage and shop | | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 196 | Library-Cultural Centre | | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 197 | Marble Mine Site | | Good Night | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 198 | Marked Tree near Boolboonda Hall | Gin Gin – Mount Perry Road | Boolboonda | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 199 | Matthew Flinders Way Pine Roadside | entrance to Gin Gin from | Gin Gin | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | Tree Plantings | Bundaberg at Maroondan | | heritage significance. |
| 200 | Melaleucas | | Bargara | No location details. |
| 201 | Melbourne Hotel | Cnr George Street and Targo Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|-----------------|---|
| 202 | Methodist Church (former) | Macrossan Street | Childers | Stage 1. |
| 203 | Millaquin House | | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 204 | Millaquin Mill Sugar Workers Cottages | 21-23 Whittred Street | Bundaberg North | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 205 | Millaquin Sugar Mill | | Bundaberg | Stage 2 |
| 206 | Missionary John Thompson memorial | | Childers | Stage 1. |
| 207 | Missionary Thompson's Hill | Bruce Highway | Childers | Stage 1, included in Missionary John Thompson Memorial entry. |
| 208 | Mon Repos Cable Station Remains | 159 Mon Repos Road | Mon Repos | Stage 1. |
| 209 | Motel | Next to Sugarland Shopping Centre | Bundaberg | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 210 | Motel Childers | Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 211 | Mungomery Residence: 'Ivanhoe': | North/Mungomery Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 212 | Naval Guns | | Bundaberg | Stage 1, included in Alexandra Park entry. |
| 213 | Nielson Park | Nielsen Park | Bargara | Stage 1. |
| 214 | Noakes Lookout/ Rankins Hill | Rankin Road | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 215 | North Bundaberg Railway Station | 9 Hanbury Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 216 | North Kolan State School & Residence | Cummins Road | Kinagin | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 217 | Novak Dry Cleaners, Fitzgerald's | Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 218 | Old Burnett Heads Lighthouse | Zunker Street | Burnett Heads | Stage 1. |
| 219 | Old Childers Road | Old Childers Road | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 220 | Old hotel site | Abington Road cnr of Mullers Rd | Abington | Structure removed. |
| 221 | Old Munderbong Hamlet Site | Booyal Sports Ground Road | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 222 | Old Railway Buffer | Railway Yards | Cordalba | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|--|--|----------------------|---|
| 223 | Old school site/ Provisional school site | McKenzies Road | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 224 | Olympia Airdome/ Moncrieff Theatre | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 225 | One Tree Hill | Hapsburg Road, Isis Highway | Isis Central | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 226 | Original Bundaberg City Council Building | | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 227 | Original Woodgate Beach Houses | Esplanade | Woodgate | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 228 | Paddy's Camp Site | | Good Night | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 229 | Paddys Island Massacre Site | Burnett River | | Stage 2. |
| 230 | Parkvue (Art-Deco building) | Cnr Maryborough Street and Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 231 | Pasturage Reserve | 605 Bargara Road | Mon Repos | Stage 1. |
| 232 | Pemberton Sugar Mill Remains | Elliott Heads Road | Innes Park | Stage 2. |
| 233 | Piggy's Valley Café | 124 Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 234 | Pine Creek Hall (incl Honour Boards) | Pine Creek Road | Pine Creek | Stage 1. |
| 235 | Pizzey Residence | North Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 236 | Police Station & lock-up | | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 237 | Post and Rail Fence | Kullogum | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 238 | Public Works Office – Department of Transport and Main Roads | 23A Quay Street | Bundaberg Central | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 239 | Queens Park | Off Hope Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 240 | Queens Theatre | 29 Woongarra Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 241 | Queensland National Bank (former) | Quay Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 242 | Qunaba Sugar Mill | 167 Grange Road | Mon Repos | Stage 2. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|-----------------------------|--|---------------|---|
| 243 | Railway Bridge | Isis River | Isis Junction | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 244 | Railway Bridge | | Wallaville | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 245 | Railway Cutting | Off Old Booyal Road | Booyal | Some general historic info on railway line only. |
| 246 | Railway Line and Formation | | Doolbi | Stage 1, included in Doolbi Sugar Mill entry. |
| 247 | Railway Station Sign | Doolbi Dam Road | Doolbi | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 248 | Remnant Vegetation | Lynwood ATC Road | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 249 | Reserve, Booyal Main Street | Old Booyal Road | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 250 | Residence | Cnr Elliot Heads Road and St Johns Road | | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 251 | Residence | Bundaberg Port Road | | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 252 | Residence | Bundaberg Port Road | | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 253 | Residence | Cockerills Road | | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 254 | Residence | Cnr Back Windermere Road and Windermere Road | | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 255 | Residence | Ten Mile Road | | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 256 | Residence | Kirbys Road | | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 257 | Residence | Plantation Road | Avondale | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 258 | Residence | Cnr Miller and Everdell Streets | Bargara | No longer extant. |
| 259 | Residence | 29 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 260 | Residence | 79 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|-----------|---|---------|--|
| 261 | Residence | 53 Holland Street | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 262 | Residence | 3 Clarke Street | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 263 | Residence | 18 Clarke Street | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 264 | Residence | 23 Holland Street | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 265 | Residence | 37 Holland Street | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 266 | Residence | 9 Whalley Street | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 267 | Residence | 12 Tanner Street | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 268 | Residence | 77 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 269 | Residence | 73 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 270 | Residence | 67 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 271 | Residence | 65 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 272 | Residence | 59 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 273 | Residence | 37 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 274 | Residence | 35 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 275 | Residence | 25 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 276 | Residence | Miller Street (next to Bargara Golf Course) | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 277 | Residence | South Bucca Road | Bucca | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|-----------|--------------------------------|---------------|--|
| 278 | Residence | 22 The Esplanade | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 279 | Residence | 2 Finucane Street | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 280 | Residence | 29 Zunker Street | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 281 | Residence | 12 Bremer Street | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 282 | Residence | 8 Bremer Street | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 283 | Residence | 6 Bremer Street | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 284 | Residence | 6 Kelly Street | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 285 | Residence | 3 Jones Street | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 286 | Residence | Pilot Reserve | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 287 | Residence | 4 Burnett Heads Road | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 288 | Residence | 11 Burnett Heads Road | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 289 | Residence | 4 Scott Street | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 290 | Residence | Hoffmans Road | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 291 | Residence | Rubyanna Road | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 292 | Residence | Rubyanna Road | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 293 | Residence | Corner North & Oakes Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 294 | Residence | 7 Rankin Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|-----------|----------------------|---------------|--|
| 295 | Residence | 15 Hinkler Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 296 | Residence | 19 Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 297 | Residence | 115 Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 298 | Residence | 11 Pizzey Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 299 | Residence | 4 West Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 300 | Residence | 22 West Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 301 | Residence | 2 William Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 302 | Residence | 5 Ernest Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 303 | Residence | 2 Pizzey Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 304 | Residence | 16 Lord Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 305 | Residence | Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 306 | Residence | 6 The Esplanade | Elliott Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 307 | Residence | 10 The Esplanade | Elliott Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 308 | Residence | 78 The Esplanade | Elliott Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 309 | Residence | 71 Bathurst Street | Elliott Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 310 | Residence | 69 Bathurst Street | Elliott Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 311 | Residence | 5 Saunders Street | Elliott Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|-----------|--|---------------------------|--|
| 312 | Residence | Woongarra Scenic Drive | Kellys Beach | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 313 | Residence | Watsons Road | Kellys Beach | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 314 | Residence | 2 Moore Park Road | Moore Park | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 315 | Residence | Cnr Holzberger Road and Moore Park Road | Moore Park | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 316 | Residence | Cnr Zandes Lane & Lindemans Road | Moore Park | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 317 | Residence | Lindemans Road | Moore Park | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 318 | Residence | Potters Road | Qunaba / Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 319 | Residence | Gibsons Road | The Oaks | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 320 | Residence | Bucca Road | Tirroan Branch Railway | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 321 | Residence | Elliott Heads Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 322 | Residence | Elliott Heads Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 323 | Residence | Elliott Heads Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 324 | Residence | Heidkes Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 325 | Residence | St Johns Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 326 | Residence | Ashfield Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 327 | Residence | 514 Bargara Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 328 | Residence | 516 Bargara Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|------------------------------|--------------------|---------------|---|
| 329 | Residence & farm sheds | 11 Rubyanna Road | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 330 | Residence / workers dwelling | Pilot Reserve | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 331 | Residence 'Bindarundat' | Elliott Heads Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 332 | Residence 'Bingera' | Ten Mile Road | | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 333 | Residence 'De Shack' | 4 Durdins Road | Kellys Beach | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 334 | Residence 'Holstone' | Mittelheusers Road | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 335 | Residence 'Lanarth' | 47 Esplanade | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 336 | Residence 'Manderlay' | 3 Booyan Road | Moore Park | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 337 | Residence 'Nigel House' | 7 Kinch Street | The Oaks | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 338 | Residence 'Rockside' | Rubyanna Road | Burnett Heads | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 339 | Residence 'Rosewood Park' | 2 Boonyan Road | Moore Park | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 340 | Residence 'Sunnyside' | Windermere Road | Woongarra | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 341 | Residence 'Tathina' | 22 Clarke Street | Bargara | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 342 | Residence, rural estate | Lines Road | South Kolan | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 343 | Residence/former church | Mill Street | South Kolan | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 344 | Roller Skating Rink | | | Stage 1, included in Nielson Park. |
| 345 | Rounds Arcade | 54 Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 346 | Royal Hotel | North Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|---|--|----------------------|---|
| 347 | Royal Hotel (former) | Queen Street | Cordalba | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 348 | Royan's Farm Residence | North-South Road | Isis Central Mill | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 349 | Rural/Farm Structure | Bundaberg Port Road | Burnett Heads | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 350 | Salters Cordial Works | 21 Walla Street | Bundaberg Central | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 351 | Saltwater Creek Railway Bridge (former) | Quay Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 352 | Sandhills Homestead | 611 Bargara Road | Bargara | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 353 | Sandy Creek Pioneer Army Bridge | | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 354 | Sandy Creek Stone Bridge | | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 355 | School Principal's Residence | | Bundaberg? | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 356 | School Site/ North Isis Provisional School/ Barnes School | Knockroe Road | North Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 357 | Shark Operations Depot; QLD Boating and Fisheries Patrol | Pilot Reserve | Burnett Heads | Stage 1, included in South Head Lighthouse and Pilot Reserve entry. |
| 358 | Shelter Shed | Esplanade | Buxton | Not located during fieldwork. |
| 359 | Shelter Shed | Esplanade, opp. Second Avenue | Woodgate | No longer extant. |
| 360 | Shops | Cnr Bucca Road and Bundaberg Gin Gin Road | Bullyard | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 361 | Showgrounds | Ridgeway | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 362 | Single Tree Fire Lookout | | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 363 | Site of Brickworks | Doolbi-Horton Road | Horton | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 364 | Site of Cane Cutters' Barracks | North-South Road | Isis Central Mill | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|---|---|------------------|---|
| 365 | Site of Horton School | Doolbi-Horton Road | Horton | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 366 | Site of Horton Sugar Mill | Doolbi-Horton Road | Horton | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 367 | Site of Police Station and Lock-up | | Cordalba | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 368 | Site of residence of owner of Miara Mill | Miara Road | Miara | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 369 | Site of State School | Old Creek Road | Apple Tree Creek | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 370 | Slab Shed | Irwins Road | Cordalba | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 371 | Slab shed and yards | Bruce Highway | Booyal | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 372 | Slab Sheds (2) | Cooks Road | South Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 373 | Smith's Crossing | Faulkner Park / Smith Crossing Road / Kolan River | Avondale | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 374 | Soldier Settlement | Farnsfield Road, north + south of Logging | North Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 375 | South Head Lighthouse and Pilot Reserve | Off Lighthouse Street | Burnett heads | Stage 1. |
| 376 | South Isis Cemetery | Aerodrome Road | South Isis | Stage 1. |
| 377 | South Isis Town Site | South Isis Road | South Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 378 | South Kolan General Cemetery | Bundaberg Gin Gin Road | South Kolan | Stage 1. |
| 379 | South Kolan State School | | Gin Gin | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 380 | South Sea Islander Cottage | Northern side of 189 Windermere Road between Hummock Road and Cattemull Avenue | Qunaba | Stage 2. |
| 381 | Special Flying Training School Observation Shelter No. 2 | Parklands Drive | Bundaberg | Not located during fieldwork. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|---|--------------------------|----------------|---|
| 382 | Sports Reserve/ Cricket Reserve | Irwins Road | Cordalba | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 383 | Spring Hill Sugar Plantation workers cottage, quarters, sheds, machinery & water tank | Springhill Road | Burnett Heads | Stage 2. |
| 384 | Springhill House – Bundaberg Distillery | 37 Avenue Street | Bundaberg East | Stage 2. |
| 385 | SSI Wall | | Mon Repos | Stage 2. |
| 386 | SSI Wall and Hut | Mittelheuser Road | Mon Repos | Stage 2. |
| 387 | St John the Divine Anglican Church | Paul Mittelheuser Street | Burnett Heads | Stage 1. |
| 388 | St Joseph's School | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 389 | St Mark's Anglican Church | Moore Park Road | Gooburrum | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 390 | St Marks Anglican Church | Moore Park Road | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 391 | St Pauls Anglican Church | 90 Gavin Road | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 392 | St Peters Anglican Church | Bauer Street | Bargara | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 393 | St Peters Hall | Bauer Street | Bargara | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 394 | Streetscape and Avenue Planting | Churchill Street | Childers | Character rather than heritage. |
| 395 | Submarine Look out remains | Esplanade | Elliott Heads | Stage 1. |
| 396 | Sugar Mill | | Fairymead | Stage 2. |
| 397 | TAB | 100 Churchill Street | Childers | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 398 | TAFE/ Isis District State High School | Lord Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 399 | Takilberan Rock | | Wonbah Forest | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 400 | Tantitha House | 293A Fairymead Road | Gooburrum | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | Residence & grave | | | heritage significance. |
| 401 | Tegege Hall | Bundaberg – Lowmead Road | Tegege | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|---|--|------------|---|
| 402 | Telstra Building and Communication Tower | Crescent Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 403 | The Basin and Shelter Sheds | Kelly's Beach Esplanade | Bargara | No longer extant. |
| 404 | The Bundaberg Service Flight Training School (SFTS) Air Gunnery and Bombing Range Shelter No. 1 | Parklands Drive | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 405 | The 'Heartbreaker' | | Woodgate | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 406 | The Hummock | Off Bowden Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 407 | The Hummock Lookout | Turners Way | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 408 | The Linden Clinic (former) | Cnr Woongarra and Barolin Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 409 | The Mango tree Catholic Church | Hodges Road | Cordalba | Not considered to threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 410 | The Old Cran Home | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 411 | The Old Showgrounds Bailey Gate | Burrum Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 412 | The Sacred Heart Catholic Church | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 413 | The Terrace Place | Cnr Woondooma Street and 56 Targo Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 414 | Third Masonic Hall | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 415 | Thrifty Link Hardware | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 416 | Tobacco Kiln | Jacksons Road | South Isis | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 417 | Toilet Block | 3 Barolin Street (in between Post Office and former customs House) | Bundaberg | Stage 2. |
| 418 | Tree | The Esplanade | Bargara | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 419 | Trees | Lord Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 420 | Trees | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|--|----------------------------|----------------|--|
| 421 | Trees | Queen and Gardner Streets | Cordalba | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| 721 | 11003 | Queen una Garaner Streets | Cordanda | heritage significance. |
| 422 | Trees (Pandanus) in Nielson Park | Esplanade | Bargara | Stage 1, included in Nielson Park |
| 423 | Tyrepower | Churchill Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | | | | heritage significance. |
| 424 | Vacant Land/ former School Site | Isis Junction Road | Isis Junction | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | | | | heritage significance. |
| 425 | Victoria Hall/ QLD Bottle Shop | Targo Street | Bundaberg | Not located during fieldwork. |
| 426 | Walla Station | 315 Walla Road | Gin Gin | Stage 2. |
| 427 | Wallaville Overbridge | Old Wallaville Road | Wallaville | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | | | | heritage significance. |
| 428 | Wallaville Railway Station & Residence | Cnr Walla Street and | Wallaville | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | | Wallaville – Goondoon Road | | heritage significance. |
| 429 | Waterloo Hall | Waterloo Hall Road | Waterloo | Stage 1. |
| 430 | Watertank (1920) | East entrance to town | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | | | | heritage significance. |
| 431 | Waterview Railway Branch | Perry Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 432 | Waterview Sawmill | Mc Rae Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 433 | Weir | Isis River | Isis Junction | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | | | | heritage significance. |
| 434 | Well | Claytons and Hodges Road | Cordalba | Stage 1, included in Cordalba Water Reserve |
| | | | | listing. |
| 435 | Well | | Bundaberg East | Not located during fieldwork. |
| 436 | Well | | Kepnock | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | | | | heritage significance. |
| 437 | Wesleyan Methodist Church/ | Broadhurst Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | Presbyterian Church | | | heritage significance. |
| 438 | West Street Streetscape | West Street | Childers | Character rather than heritage. |
| 439 | Whaling Wall | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 440 | White's Farm | Doolbi-Horton Road | Horton | Not considered to threshold for local heritage |
| | | | | significance. |
| 441 | Wild Scotsman Cave | | Gin Gin | Further research required, may threshold for local |
| | | | | heritage significance. |
| 442 | Winfield School | Winfield Road | Winfield | Stage 1. |



| # | Name | Address | Suburb | Comments |
|-----|---|--------------------------|----------------------|---|
| 443 | Wintergarden Theatre/ Blockbuster Video | Maryborough Street | Bundaberg | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 444 | Wishing Well | Bourbong Street | Bundaberg Central | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 445 | Women's Bowling Club | West Street | Childers | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 446 | Wooco Creek Trestle Bridge | | Isis Central | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 447 | Woocoo Creek Gold Mine | | Cordalba | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 448 | Wooden fencepost and cattle grid | | Moolboolaman | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 449 | Woongarra Street Weeping Figs | Woongarra Street Reserve | Bundaberg | Stage 1. |
| 450 | Yandaran Creek School | Mattons Road | Yandaran Creek | Further research required, may threshold for local heritage significance. |
| 451 | Zunker Family Memorial Pines | Esplanade Foreshore | Bargara | Stage 1. |

